

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Teachers' Perceptions of Their Ability to Provide Equitable Instructional Practices in High-Poverty Schools

Angela Mary Davis Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Curriculum and Instruction Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Angela Davis

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Ryan Theroux, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Deanne Otto, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Matthew Basham, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2021

Abstract

Teachers' Perceptions of Their Ability to Provide Equitable Instructional Practices in

High-Poverty Schools

by

Angela Davis

MA, Southern University, 2017

BS, Southern University 2012

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Education

Walden University

May 2021

Abstract

Equitable instructional practices have a positive impact on the academic achievement of students living in high poverty. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. Gorski's equity literacy framework was the approach used to guide the study and address the research question. In this qualitative study, teachers in highpoverty schools were asked to perceive and describe their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices. Data were collected through semistructured interviews with 10 K-8 teachers of high-poverty schools located in the Southeastern region of the United States. Thematic analysis produced three significant themes: identity crisis, experience, and principles. The participants reported that the guiding principles in their instructional visions and their experiences contributed to their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices. However, the participants expressed that organizational policies and practices obstructed their abilities to provide equitable instruction. In addition, the participants desired further professional development to strengthen their ability to implement equitable instructional practices. This study's findings could contribute to district leaders' creation of professional development to enhance teachers' ability to implement equitable instructional practices. The findings contribute to positive social change by showing that K-12 organizations must have policies and practices in place to counteract the barriers to student success presented by poverty.

Teachers' Perceptions of Their Ability to Provide Equitable Instructional Practices in

High-Poverty Schools

by

Angela Davis

MA, Southern University, 2017

BS, Southern University 2012

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Education

Walden University

May 2021

Dedication

I want to give all honor to God for allowing me to persevere through this accomplishment. He has placed so many people in my life that have contributed to this goal. He has given me strength, grace, and perseverance through my doctoral journey. Without him, this accomplishment would not be possible. Next, I want to thank all the people in my life who have persevered alongside me.

This dissertation is dedicated to my husband, Lavanta, who has been my rock throughout this entire process. You have encouraged me through the difficult times and celebrated with me every step of the way. I greatly appreciate your dedication to ensuring that I become the best version of myself always. I appreciate all of the sacrifices you have made for me.

This dissertation is also dedicated to my sons. Lavanta and Langston, I hope my perseverance throughout this process makes you realize that you both can accomplish anything your heart desires. You both make me a better person each day! To my parents, Al and Frances, who have always supported my dreams, thank you for always encouraging me to be my best. To my siblings, who have constantly challenged me, I love and thank you.

Friends and colleagues, thank you for your encouraging words along the way. Thank you for your advice, being a shoulder to cry on, and a listening ear when I needed it. I would not have made it through this journey without all of you.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my thankfulness to my committee members. Dr. Theroux, you have been a fantastic chair and mentor. Your positive attitude and constant encouragement have been my saving grace throughout this process. Dr. Otto, your constant push to make the dissertation stronger was invaluable. Dr. Basham, the university reviewer, thank you for the knowledge you have given me during the revision process. Your feedback strengthened this study in many ways.

| List of Tables | vi |
|---|-----|
| List of Figures | vii |
| Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study | 1 |
| Background | 2 |
| Problem Statement | 5 |
| Research Question | 6 |
| Conceptual Framework | 7 |
| Nature of Study | 8 |
| Definitions | 10 |
| Assumptions | 11 |
| Scope and Delimitations | 11 |
| Limitations | 12 |
| Significance | 12 |
| Summary | 13 |
| Chapter 2: Literature Review | 14 |
| Literature Search Strategies | 14 |
| Conceptual Framework | 16 |
| Equity Literacy Framework | 16 |
| Theoretical Underpinning of Equity Literacy Framework | |
| Other Theories Considered | 19 |
| Income Achievement Gap | 20 |

Table of Contents

| Factors Affecting the Income Achievement Gap | |
|--|----|
| Recent Legislation to Address the Income Achievement Gap | |
| High-Poverty Schools | 27 |
| Barriers Affecting Student Achievement in High-Poverty Schools | |
| Recent Solutions of Barriers High-Poverty Schools Face | |
| Equitable Based Practices Within Instruction | 33 |
| Summary | 36 |
| Chapter 3: Research Method | 38 |
| Research Design and Rationale | |
| Role of the Researcher | 40 |
| Methodology | 41 |
| Participant Selection Logic | |
| Instrumentation | |
| Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection | 46 |
| Data Analysis Plan | 47 |
| Issues of Trustworthiness | 50 |
| Credibility | 50 |
| Transferability | 50 |
| Dependability and Confirmability | 51 |
| Ethical Procedures | 51 |
| Summary | 52 |
| Chapter 4: Results | 53 |

| Setting53 |
|--|
| Demographics |
| Data Collection |
| Data Analysis |
| Word Cloud |
| Hierarchy of Codes Related to Conceptual Framework |
| Cycle 1 Coding Summaries |
| Participant 1 62 |
| Participant 2 |
| Participant 3 63 |
| Participant 4 |
| Participant 5 |
| Participant 6 67 |
| Participant 7 69 |
| Participant 8 |
| Participant 9 |
| Participant 10 |
| Evidence of Trustworthiness72 |
| Credibility |
| Transferability72 |
| Dependability73 |
| Confirmability73 |

| Results73 |
|--|
| Theme 1: Identity Crisis74 |
| Theme 2: Experiences |
| Theme 3: Principles |
| Discrepant Data |
| Summary |
| Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations90 |
| Interpretation of the Findings90 |
| Interpretation of Findings Related to the Research Question |
| Interpretation of Findings Related to the Conceptual Framework |
| Limitations of the Study100 |
| Recommendations101 |
| Recommendation 1: Organizational Examination of Practices and Policies 101 |
| Recommendation 2: Development of Professional Development of |
| Equitable Instructional Practices101 |
| Recommendation 3: Development of an Organizational Vision for Equity 102 |
| Recommendation 4: A Quantitative Study Measuring the Impact of |
| Principles102 |
| Recommendation 5: Increase Transferability Through Replication of the |
| Study 102 |
| Implications103 |
| Conclusion104 |

| References | 106 |
|---------------------------|-----|
| | |
| Appendix: Interview Guide | |
| -rr | |

List of Tables

| Table 1 Data Collection Log | 55 |
|--|----|
| Table 2 Data Analysis Categories | 57 |
| Table 3 Data Analysis: Number of References Included in Themes | 58 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1 Zoom Word Cloud | 59 |
|---|----|
| | |
| Figure 2 Zoom Hierarchy Chart of Intersecting Codes | 61 |

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

In this study, I conducted semistructured, qualitative interviews with teachers to explore their perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instruction strategies in high-poverty schools. Many quantitative studies have shown positive correlations between equitable instructional practices and the academic performance of marginalized students; however, there is a need for qualitative studies on equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools to contribute to the field of education (Nadelson et al., 2019). Equitable instructional practices have positive effects on the academic achievement of students in poverty (Rubel, 2017). Therefore, exploring teachers' perceptions of equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools is a way to increase classroom quality in high-poverty areas and find solutions to the persistent income achievement gap in the United States.

This study contributes to positive social change by presenting teachers' perspectives of implementing equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. Research has indicated that students who live in high-poverty areas receive inequitable educational opportunities, contributing to the income achievement gap (Lipman, 2016). Equitable instructional opportunities for students are the foundation for improving the achievement scores of students from high-poverty households (Lampert et al., 2020). The income achievement gap will stagnate or widen without innovative ways to address this issue (Nadelson et al., 2019). The findings of the present study provide information on the support teachers need to implement equitable instructional practices within their classrooms. The findings also provide school and district leaders with the necessary

knowledge and tools to create relevant professional development and support equity in high-poverty schools. Chapter 1 includes a discussion of the study's background, problem, purpose, research question, conceptual framework, nature, definitions, assumptions, and significance. In this chapter, I also present the study's potential to contribute to positive social change.

Background

According to the National Assessment of Educational Progress, there is a 31scaled-point difference in the reading assessment performance of high socioeconomic status and low socioeconomic status students (National Center for Educational Statistics [NCES], 2017). In a sample of 30 large, scaled assessments from 1950 to 2000, Chmielewski (2019) found a consistently increasing gap in student achievement levels, focusing on three socioeconomic status variables (i.e., parents' education, parents' occupation, and the number of books available in the home) impacting the significant increase in the nationwide, income-based achievement gap. Similarly, Owens et al. (2016) found a 40% increase in the socioeconomic achievement gap between students from high and low socioeconomic backgrounds.

The correlation between academic achievement and family income increased during the 1980s and 1990s (Engel et al., 2016). The achievement gap between high- and low-income students remains steady (Hanushek et al., 2019; Reardon et al., 2015). Chmielewski and Reardon (2016) found a significant income achievement gap in the United States compared to other countries. Reardon and Portilla (2016) reported that socioeconomic status correlated with a 1.25 deviation in student reading level upon school entry. Studies, such as Reardon and Portilla's, have resulted in extensive research on the causes and solutions for the income achievement gap. Individuals from nearly 3 million households in the United States live in deep poverty (Engel et al., 2016). Many students who live in high-poverty areas score significantly lower than low-poverty students on achievement assessments (Heckman, 2018). In examining student developmental trends from school entry to middle school, Kuhfeld et al. (2018) found that the students in poverty fell behind in math and reading during their late elementary years. Eighty percent of students who live in high poverty score below proficient in reading on the National Assessment of Educational Progress (Michelmore & Dynarski, 2017).

The lack of evidence of a decreasing achievement gap between high- and lowpoverty students suggests the presence of certain factors that educators at high-poverty schools may encounter while educating students of poverty (Baker-Doyle et al., 2018). Research has shown numerous factors that cause a disparity in academic achievement for students who live in high poverty, including the income invested into students' education by parents (Kyriakides et al., 2020), school readiness (Pan et al., 2019), school segregation (Chmielewski & Reardon, 2016), high teacher turnover (Hanushek et al., 2016), and inequitable access to high-quality teachers (Zygmunt & Cipollone, 2019). Complex school-based and out-of-school factors affect student achievement in highpoverty schools (Hirn et al., 2017). Out-of-school factors include the home environment, motivation, concentration, and engagement (Kainz, 2019; Nicotera, 2019; Owens, 2017). School-based factors include instructional practices, teacher quality, collective teacher efficacy, and class size (Acton, 2018; Kainz, 2019; Knight, 2017).

Inequitable school practices, policies, and events contribute to the marginalization of the students who live in poverty (DeMatthews, 2018; Skousen & Domangue, 2012). Skousen and Domangue (2012) suggested teaching critical consciousness, with school leaders developing their abilities to address inequities within classroom instruction. Substantial research has indicated positive correlations between equitable teaching practices and student achievement in high-poverty schools (Lampert et al., 2020; Steele et al., 2015; Sun & Leithwood, 2017). Equitable instructional practices focus on identifying the knowledge teachers must acquire to implement equitable instructional environments (Gorski, 2016).

Gorski (2020) identified five characteristics of equitable instructional practices that result in equitable classroom actions. One of the elements is educators' recognition of biases and inequities to immediately and skillfully respond to them. Additionally, educators can redress biases by examining the institutional roots and sustaining equity efforts even amid discomfort or resistance (Gorski, 2016). Teacher knowledge and disposition contribute to student learning in high-poverty environments, and teachers' beliefs are critical components of high-quality instructional environments (Gorski, 2016). For example, Springer et al. (2016) studied the impact of 321 highly effective teachers in high-poverty schools on student achievement and found that students within these teachers' classrooms scored a standard deviation above the state average on yearly standardized assessments. Lekwa et al. (2019) examined the correlations between assessments of teaching practices and gains and student achievement at 13 urban schools, finding higher student achievement gains in classrooms where teachers utilized research-based instructional practices.

Problem Statement

In this study, I conducted qualitative interviews to address the lack of knowledge on teachers' perceptions of their ability to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. Utilizing equitable instructional practices is a pedagogical shift in instruction requiring teachers to respond to the inequities that exist for the students they serve (Gorski, 2016). Scholars have explored the impact of teachers and other schoolbased factors on student achievement (Acton, 2018; Kainz, 2019; Knight, 2017). However, little research has focused on teachers' perceptions of their ability to implement equitable instructional practices to produce positive change in high-poverty students' academic achievement (Burke & Whitty, 2018; Hirn et al., 2017). Scholars have typically documented equitable practices through teachers' perspectives (Burke & Whitty, 2018). The concern for equitable instructional practices from teachers of students who live in poverty is not a new phenomenon.

Recent studies on equitable instructional practices within school systems have produced new knowledge about this phenomenon (Cramer et al., 2017). Several researchers have suggested the need for further research focusing on teachers' perceptions of their ability to implement equitable teaching practices in high-poverty schools (Baker-Doyle et al., 2018; Burke & Whitty, 2018; Jones, 2018). I built this study based on Nadelson et al.'s (2019) suggestion for further research on teachers' mindsets on equity in their teaching practices. Nadelson et al. found that teachers framed their equitable practices consistently when they worked with students in diverse populations. Their study suggested the need to focus on teachers' perceptions of equity to develop professional development modules for schools, especially high-poverty ones. The current study was a means to address this gap in the literature. Scholars have not explored teachers' perceptions of equitable instructional practices as useful tools for professional development and closing the income achievement gap. The findings of the current study could contribute to the professional development of equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools.

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. I attempted to answer the research question by conducting semistructured interviews and focusing on the teacher participants' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. Teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices contributed to identifying the necessary resources and professional development to implement equitable instructional practices within high-poverty schools. This study's findings could also contribute to developing organizational policies and practices to support equitable instructional practices in high-poverty school districts.

Research Question

How do teachers in high-poverty schools perceive and describe their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices?

6

Conceptual Framework

Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework served as this study's conceptual framework. The framework is an approach against the concept that education is the great equalizer. Gorski (2014) reported the inequalities in schools and school environments that contribute to disparities in student achievement, including access to well-funded schools, preschool, adequate school resources, support services, affirming school environments, high student expectations, experienced teachers, high-quality curriculum and pedagogy, instructional technology, and family environment within the school environment. Gorski (2016) also identified the principles of equity literacy: confrontation; poverty of culture; equity ideology; prioritization; redistribution; fix injustice, not kids; evidence-informed equity; and one-size-fits-few.

Gorski (2014) challenged popular diversity approaches and frameworks that do not adequately address marginalized people's conditions. Gorski (2020) identified five necessary abilities for equitable educators to influence positive change within education environments, including recognizing subtle biases and inequities; responding to biases and inequities; redressing biases and inequities; actively creating antioppressive cultures; and sustaining bias-free and equitable classrooms, schools, and instructional cultures.

Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework served to guide this basic qualitative study by providing structure to the interview questions. Integrating the five abilities of equitable educators into the semistructured interview questions enabled me to capture teachers' perceptions of equitable instructional practices in general and equitable instructional strategies specifically used in high-poverty schools. Use of Gorski's equity literacy framework also allowed for the development of insights into the skills and dispositions teachers need to promote equitable instructional environments.

Nature of Study

The qualitative research method, an approach utilized in many social sciences, emerged through anthropology, linguistics, and sociology (Creswell & Creswell, 2018), allowing scholars to derive meaning from a person's life experiences (Ravitch & Carl, 2015). Qualitative methodology is the opposite of the positivist tradition (Ravitch & Carl, 2015) because humans have multiple truths and perspectives (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Research with the qualitative approach includes specific components, such as naturalist engagement, complexity, and contextualization (Ravitch & Carl, 2015). Contextualization, interviews in a naturalistic environment, and making meaning of teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional strategies in high-poverty schools aligned this study with the qualitative method.

Quantitative methods were another tradition reviewed during the development of this study. Quantitative researchers collect numerical data to test predetermined hypotheses (Ary et al., 2019). Quantitative research was not a suitable method for exploring teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. The nature of this study required qualitative methodology to examine teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools.

Basic qualitative research was appropriate for this study because it does not have specific methodological rules (see Kennedy, 2016). A basic qualitative approach enables conducting semistructured interviews and document analyses to research an observed phenomenon (Merriam & Tisdell, 2017). The semistructured interviews in the current study enabled the teachers to describe their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. Focusing on teachers' perceptions aligned with Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework, which indicates that certified, experienced teachers positively impact marginalized students' academic achievement. Investigating the topic in such a manner allowed for in-depth dialogue about the teachers' perceptions.

This study consisted of data from 10 teachers in K-8 grade schools identified as high poverty within six school districts. According to the NCES (2017), a high-poverty school has 75% of students receiving free or reduced school lunch. The teacher participants worked in schools with at least 75% of students who received free or reduced lunch. After I obtained Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval, the organizations sent out a recruitment invitation to teachers on my behalf. The invitation email contained a description of the study and its purpose as well as a request for participation in a 30- to 45-minute interview and engagement in the member checking process.

Potential participants emailed me to express interest in taking part in the study. The potential participants received a consent form via email, to which they indicated their consent by writing, "I consent," in a reply email. After receiving the 10 participants' completed consent forms, I stopped all recruitment efforts. Next, I scheduled interviews at a time convenient for the participants via the Zoom (2021) video conferencing platform. Audio recording the participants' responses allowed me to capture the data from the interviews. After the semistructured interviews were completed, the data analysis process consisted of descriptive coding and category construction of the participants' responses. From the qualitative analysis, themes emerged related to teachers' perceptions of equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools.

Definitions

Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965: A federal education law enacted in 1965 that provided funding for schools and school districts with students in high poverty to provide educational equality for all students (Paul, 2016).

Equitable instructional practices: The ability of an educator to recognize subtle biases and inequities; respond to biases and inequities; redress biases and inequities; and create and sustain bias-free and equitable classrooms, schools, and instructional cultures (Gorski, 2016).

Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA): A federal education law enacted in 2015 as a revision of the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB). The law shifts accountability measures for school systems to include equitable opportunities for all students (Adler-Greene, 2019).

Income achievement gap: The measurement of performance on standardized assessments between students of different economic statuses (NCES, 2019).

NCLB: A federal education law enacted in 2015 to increase accountability measures to improve marginalized students' academic performance. The accountability measures include punitive consequences for schools if at-risk students do not meet growth targets on the end-of-the-year state assessments after 3 consecutive years (U.S. Department of Education, 2015).

Socioeconomic status: The social status of a family or group is measured by education, income, and occupation (Chiu & Chow, 2015).

Assumptions

Assumptions within a qualitative study are the researcher's beliefs about a study (Patton, 2015). Thus, there was a need to examine my assumptions to ensure the validity of the results. I made several assumptions when examining teachers' perceptions of equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools in this study. One assumption was that the participants provided accurate accounts of their perceptions during their semistructured interview. Forthcoming participants contribute to accurate and reliable data collection (Patton, 2015). Another assumption was that the participants were interested in studying equitable instruction practices because of the significance the practices have to their careers. Lastly, I assumed the participants' perceptions of equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools were representative of most teachers.

Scope and Delimitations

The teachers who participated in this study were K–8 teachers in three school districts in Louisiana. Specifically, the focus was on teachers of students who receive free or reduced lunch, which is a primary indicator of students living in high-poverty households (see NCES, 2017). Each teacher participated in one interview. The perceptions of teachers in another geographic region could be different from those of the participants. The conceptual framework aligned with the purpose of the study to explore

teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. I used one theory as the conceptual framework; however, there could have been other appropriate theories.

Limitations

Limitations within a study are factors that could affect the findings (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). One limitation of this study was the lack of critiques conducted with Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework. This was a study limited to educators in high-poverty schools; therefore, the findings may not apply to teachers at schools of different socioeconomic status. Although all the teachers who participated in this study taught at high-poverty schools, I was open to teachers with various experiences and backgrounds to increase the range of the participant population in the study. I conducted 10 participant interviews based on Creswell and Creswell's (2018) assertion that qualitative studies only need a few cases for saturation.

Significance

This qualitative study filled a gap in education research by focusing on teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. This was a significant study because it addressed an unexamined topic in education (see Zhou et al., 2018): equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. Dyches and Boyd (2017) stated that teachers must know about effective practices for classroom success. Additionally, Dyches and Boyd argued that teachers' instructional knowledge should include techniques for positioning students to act for justice. Educators could use the insights provided in the current study to reflect on their

instructional practices and develop equitable instructional practices to enhance student outcomes. School district leaders and policymakers could also use the findings to establish professional development opportunities focused on teachers' needs for implementing equitable practices. These professional development opportunities could improve teachers' use of equitable instructional practices within classrooms.

Summary

In this chapter, I presented an introduction to the study, including the background of the phenomenon. The chapter also included the study's research problem, purpose, and significance. This study focused on teachers' perceptions of their ability to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools, which was an area of education not yet examined in previous research. The chapter also included the research question developed using the equity literacy conceptual framework. I then described the basic qualitative research design used to conduct the study, which was followed by a discussion of the scope and delimitations, limitations, and assumptions. Chapter 2 is a review of the literature on the key concepts related to equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. Research has shown the benefits of equitable instructional practices for students in highpoverty schools (Andersen & Andersen, 2015; Jackson et al., 2015). Although the extant research presented the benefits of equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools, the literature has not addressed teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional strategies. Therefore, this study focused on teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in highpoverty schools and the impact of those practices on teaching. The themes identified in this study could increase awareness of teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices, resulting in new knowledge within the field of education on teaching students who live in poverty.

In Chapter 2, I present the literature review strategy and an overview of the study's conceptual framework, Gorski's (2016) equity literacy theory. Next, the chapter contains a review of the extant literature on the income achievement gap, including recent legislation on improving this gap; high-poverty schools; the barriers faced in high-poverty schools; and current solutions to those barriers. Finally, I discuss equitable instructional practices and their influence on high-poverty schools.

Literature Search Strategies

I used the following databases to search for relevant literature for this review: Walden Library, Google Scholar, ERIC, ScienceDirect, SAGE Journals, Education Source, ProQuest Central, and Taylor & Francis Online. I limited the search to peerreviewed articles published within the last 5 years. The literature search commenced with an examination of articles on the income achievement gap, equitable classroom instruction, and solutions to equity issues in K–12 educational environments.

I searched for literature on the income achievement gap with the keywords and phrases of equitable state policies, equitable use of funds in K-12 settings, income achievement gap, teachers' impact of student achievement, equity distribution of highly qualified teachers, opportunity gap, war on poverty, free or reduced lunch, high-poverty schools, and socioeconomic status AND schools. I searched for literature on high-poverty schools with the following keywords: school readiness of students who live in high poverty, factors influencing the performance of students who live in poverty, highperforming school in high-poverty areas, teacher preparation for high-poverty schools, equity in teacher education programs, low achievement groups in K-12 settings, predictor variables in student achievement, social justice, and value-added models. While searching for research on equitable instructional practices in schools, I used the keywords: equitable-based instructional practices, equity in elementary schools, equity theories in education, equality in elementary education, equity framework, and professional development of equity. After reading the articles related to key concepts within this study, I completed a literature matrix to organize them based on alignment with key headings. I expanded the search to include seminal sources critical to exhausting the research and the study.

Conceptual Framework

In this study, I used the equity literacy framework to examine the phenomenon of equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework provided a foundation to define this phenomenon, identify the equitable instructional practices that teachers must use to include equity in their instruction, and examine the teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools.

Equity Literacy Framework

According to the equity literacy framework, equity should be at the forefront of education instead of the culture-centric framework (Gorski, 2016). A commitment to equity in education for all students has resulted in several professional development programs for cultural proficiency, cultural competence, culturally relevant teaching, culturally responsive teaching, cross-cultural education, intercultural education, and multicultural education (Gorski & Swalwell, 2015). However, researchers have warned that culturally focused programs do not address the social, structural, and political conditions that cause educational disparities for marginalized students (Berliner, 2013; Gorski, 2016; Ladson-Billings, 2006). Through decades of research on multicultural education framework. In this way, Gorski centered professional development efforts on equity instead of culture. Swalwell (2011) believed that the equity literacy framework is a means of keeping equity, not cultural diversity, at the forefront of conversations.

Ryoo et al. (2019) defined equity as the fair distribution of teaching and resources according to different students' needs. Hill et al. (2019) defined equity-centered teaching as educators' ability to improve marginalized students' learning while challenging and recognizing inequities. Teachers need opportunities to deepen their understanding of how race, class, and gender align with their instructional practices to ensure students have equitable instructional environments (Hill et al., 2019). A way to explore teachers' perceptions of equitable instructional practices is to explore their perceptions of their abilities to provide equitable-based instructional practices within their classrooms.

Teachers' beliefs, knowledge, and dispositions must align with actions that contribute to equitable instructional environments for marginalized students in highpoverty schools (Hill et al., 2019). Gorski (2014) stated that educators must become threats to inequity to serve students in low-income populations effectively. According to Gorski (2016), teachers must have proficient knowledge and skills to ensure and advocate for equity. Educators must possess foundational knowledge about the nature of inequity and how it presents within the educational environment to provide equitable instructional opportunities for students (Gorski, 2016). The equity literacy framework shows that acquiring knowledge and skills to ensure and advocate for literacy is a way to address the institutional conditions that produce manifestations of inequity. Additionally, the knowledge and skills needed to ensure and advocate for equity indicate how to educate students from marginalized groups. Utilizing equity literacy enables all students in the classroom to expand their educational opportunities (Lawson, 2015). According to Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework, equity-literate educators recognize, immediately respond to, and redress biases and inequities; cultivate equitable ideologies and institutional cultures; and sustain bias-free and equitable classrooms. Teachers who recognize biases and inequities recognize the challenges students who live in poverty experience in and out of school (Gorski, 2016). Equity-literate teachers apply an equity lens to every practice and process decision and uphold the equitable practices put into place (Gorski, 2016). Thompson and Thompson (2018) discussed that using equitable instructional practices through the lens of Gorski's framework in classrooms could have a positive impact on students.

Theoretical Underpinning of Equity Literacy Framework

Bandura's (1977) social learning theory is the theoretical basis of Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework. According to social learning theory, individuals base their actions on what they observe (Bandura, 1977). This theory resulted in the self-efficacy theory, in which the idea that individuals' beliefs in their capabilities affect their functioning was put forth (Karimova et al., 2020). Four experiences contribute to selfefficacy: vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion, mastery experiences, and emotional/physiological states (Bandura, 1977). Bandura stated that possessing high selfefficacy could enable an individual to identify barriers as opportunities.

When considering equity literacy through the self-efficacy lens, educators become equity literate by believing that they can do so. Teachers must know about the internal and external factors inequitable for students in high-poverty schools. Individuals with high self-efficacy look at a task from a broad viewpoint (Infurna et al., 2018); educators must redress inequities for students in high-poverty schools. With high self-efficacy, teachers can position themselves to implement equitable instructional practices in their classrooms. Self-efficacy has a positive effect on student outcomes (Perera & John, 2020).

Other Theories Considered

This study focused on teachers' perceptions of their abilities to provide equitable instruction within high-poverty schools. Several studies have shown the benefits of equitable classroom practices for students in high-poverty schools (Comber, 2016; Scholes et al., 2017). I used Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework as the study's theoretical framework. Gorski's framework presents the knowledge and skills that teachers need to become threats to inequities for students who live in high poverty.

Several theories address the relationship between teaching and student learning (Bowlby, 1969; Vygotsky, 1978). Bowlby (1969) developed the attachment theory, which indicates that individuals organize their early childhood experiences through positive relations with adults. Smith et al. (2017) argued that positive experiences and feelings from caring adults are means of altering early life's negative attachments. Fonagy and Allison (2014, as cited in Harlow, 2019) argued that children who have trusting relationships with their caregivers could learn through their social environments. Vygotsky (1978), as a part of the sociocultural framework, described human development as a socially mediated process. Using Vygotsky's sociocultural theory, Dlamini and Sheik (2019) determined that instructional practices are key for learners to develop systematic thinking. Vygotsky's sociocultural theory and Bowlby's attachment theory

present the positive effects teachers and instructional practices have on students' success. However, the use of these theories would not have enabled me to identify the knowledge and skills teachers in high-poverty schools need to provide equitable instruction. Using Gorski's (2014) equity literacy framework enabled me to describe teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools.

Income Achievement Gap

An achievement gap is the measurement of disparities within the educational attainment of different groups of students (Berliner, 2017). The achievement gap is an issue documented throughout history that has caused various policy changes in the United States (Coleman, 1973). Scholars have researched several achievement gaps, including those between racial and ethnic minorities (Henry et al., 2020), English speakers and English language learners (Gibson, 2016), students with and without disabilities (Mintrop & Zane, 2017), male and female students (Reardon et al., 2019), and students from affluent and high-poverty backgrounds (Whipple et al., 2016). Researchers have measured achievement gaps by performance on state and national assessments (NCES, 2019), educational attainment (Mahatmya et al., 2016), and job fulfillment (Hardcastle et al., 2018). A 2019 measurement of persistent achievement gaps indicated a 13% to 25% decrease in achievement gaps based on race and language (NCES, 2019). The racial achievement gap decreased 0.15 standard deviations in fourth grade and 0.11 standard deviations in eighth grade. Moreover, there have been decreases in English language achievement by 0.15 in fourth grade and 0.20 in eighth grade (NCES, 2019).

Despite the gains made with several achievement gaps (NCES, 2019), there remains a significant difference between the educational outcomes of students who live in poverty and those who live in affluent neighborhoods (Bellibas, 2016; Owens, 2017; Reardon & Portilla, 2016). Research on the income achievement gap indicates a significant difference in achievement between high- and low-poverty students (Chmielewski & Reardon, 2016; Michelmore & Dynarski, 2017; Owens, 2017; Rogers et al., 2018; Ziol-Guest & Lee, 2016). Several studies have indicated an increasing achievement gap of as large as 40% based on the socioeconomic status of students born in the 21st century (Owens, 2017; Shing & Yuan, 2017; Ziol-Guest & Lee, 2016). However, an individual's success directly aligns with education (Zhao, 2016). Chmielewski and Reardon (2016) suggested that students who attend affluent districts gain almost a year more in proficiency on the end-of-year assessments than students who attend high-poverty school districts.

Students from low socioeconomic-status backgrounds tend to score lower than students from high SES backgrounds in language, mathematics, and science (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2016). Curran (2016) found an income achievement gap of 1 standard deviation between students from families of the 90th and 10th percentile of income. Furthermore, on average, fourth-grade reading scores indicate a 28-point difference between high- and low-poverty students (NCES, 2019). There is a need for more research focused on solutions to close the welldocumented income achievement gap (Rogers et al., 2018). Numerous scholars have attempted to identify the root causes of the income achievement gap (Andersen & Andersen, 2015; Caucutt et al., 2015; Engel et al., 2016; Hindman et al., 2016; Owens, 2017; Ziol-Guest & Lee, 2016). The seminal Coleman Report of 1966 provided an analysis of several factors contributing to the persistent income achievement gap. Following a study of more than 600,000 students and teachers across the United States, Coleman (1973) suggested that a student's home background was the most significant influence on academic success—more significant than the instructional environment. The Coleman Report resulted in a change in school policies, such as busing Black students to predominately White schools (Downey & Condron, 2017) and additional academic research (Alexander & Morgan, 2016). As with many studies, scholars have critiqued the Coleman Report for not addressing the transformative influence of schools on the income achievement gap (Kantor & Lowe, 2017; Micalizzi et al., 2019). Thus, there was a need for further knowledge on the achievement gap.

Factors Affecting the Income Achievement Gap

Since the Coleman Report of 1966, many scholars have focused on the factors of and policies, strategies, and suggestions for closing the income achievement gap (Calzada et al., 2015; Engel et al., 2016; Shing & Yuan, 2017). The literature provides evidence of the factors that cause disparities in academic achievement, such as high poverty, home environment (Rosen et al., 2018), the climate of high-quality expectations (Tan, 2016), school readiness (Shing & Yuan, 2017), school segregation (Chmielewski & Reardon, 2016), and inequitable access to high-quality teachers (Knight, 2017). Following is a synthesis of the factors that contribute to the income achievement gap.

Home Environment Factors

A student's home environment is a predictor of academic success (Caucutt et al., 2015; Owens, 2017; Rosen et al., 2018; Shing & Yuan, 2017), impacting educational outcomes (Rosen et al., 2018). Students in low-poverty households are exposed to 30 million fewer words (Hindman et al., 2016; Shing & Yuan, 2017; Snow, 2017) and receive less investment in early childhood development (Reardon & Portilla, 2016) than students in high-income households. Dimosthenous et al. (2020) measured the home learning environment's effect on student achievement and found that at-home activities with parents correlated with Year 1 academic success. Chung et al. (2016) had similar results in examining the effects of home environmental effects on student achievement. There is conflicting evidence on the impact of the home environment on student achievement; however, there is evidence of its effect on the persistent income achievement gap (Rosen et al., 2018).

School Segregation

Students who live in high-poverty neighborhoods have lower-quality school conditions than students in low-poverty neighborhoods (Knight, 2017). This disparity is another factor contributing to the income achievement gap and income segregation between school districts (Chmielewski & Reardon, 2016; Owens, 2017). There has been increased segregation by income within U.S. public school districts since the 1990s (Owens et al., 2016), suggesting a correlation between school quality and poverty. The Great Recession led to cuts of state funding for public education (Knight, 2017). Therefore, states have insufficient budgets to address barriers contributing to the income achievement gap (Baker & Green, 2008). Because local taxes provide the most capital for public schools, schools in low-poverty areas receive less funding to address the lack of resources in students' homes (Owens, 2017). Knight (2017) found that high-poverty districts had inequitable funding compared to low-poverty districts. Consequently, income segregation among school districts may contribute to the persistent income achievement gap (Jackson et al., 2015).

Scholars have examined the effect of higher per-pupil capital spending and its relationship with student achievement (Baker & Weber, 2016). Higher per-pupil spending correlates with increased student achievement (Baker & Weber, 2016; Jackson et al., 2015). Jackson et al. (2015) utilized instrumental variable models to demonstrate that a 10% increase in per-pupil spending correlates with increased educational attainment by 0.31 years. According to Jackson et al., adequate funding for schools is necessary for improving students' educational attainment. Baker and Weber (2016) explored the heterogeneity of state investments in elementary and secondary education, finding that higher per-pupil spending positively affected students from low socioeconomic backgrounds. Thus, increased funding for high-poverty schools can result in high per-pupil spending on curricular resources, high-quality teachers, technological advancement, and social-emotional development services to combat home environments.

Quality of Schools

School quality in different socioeconomic areas is another factor that contributes to the income achievement gap (Andersen & Andersen, 2015; Bernal et al., 2016; Sun & Leithwood, 2015). There is conflicting evidence on the school characteristics that impact student achievement (Bernal et al., 2016; Sun & Leithwood, 2015). Identified characteristics include teacher quality (Durham et al., 2019; Gerritsen et al., 2016), educational resources (Tichnor-Wagner et al., 2015), principal instructional leadership (Fuller et al., 2017; Litz & Scott, 2016), and high expectations from school staff (Tan, 2016). More specifically, principal instructional leadership positively correlates with improved student achievement (Fuller et al., 2017; Litz & Scott, 2016). Tan (2016) found that principal instructional leadership had the most effect on disadvantaged students, with a coefficient of 11.22 to 11.74. A focus of recent research, improving principals' instructional leadership is a way of ensuring a positive impact on student achievement. Focusing on teachers' instructional quality is another way to impact student achievement.

High-quality teachers positively impact student achievement (Lee & Bierman, 2015). However, there is a concentration of ineffective teachers in high-poverty schools (Goldhaber et al., 2015; Isenberg et al., 2015; McFarland et al., 2017; Podolsky et al., 2019). There is a positive correlation between teaching experience and increased student achievement (McFarland et al., 2017; Podolsky et al., 2019). McFarland et al. (2017) found that high-poverty schools had a much smaller percentage of certified teachers than low-poverty schools, translating into more highly trained teachers in schools with fewer low-income students. Goldhaber et al. (2015) examined the experience, licensure exam results, and value-added scores of teachers in Washington. They saw an inequitable distribution of teacher quality in each indicator for students with free or reduced lunch rates. Such findings suggested that students who attend schools in predominately low-SES neighborhoods receive instruction from teachers with quality gaps. Therefore,

placing effective teachers in high-poverty schools is a way to reduce the income achievement gap.

Recent Legislation to Address the Income Achievement Gap

The U.S. government enacted several legislative acts to ameliorate the decadeslong income achievement gap (Aydin et al., 2017; Coburn & Penuel, 2016; Okhremtchouk & Jimenez-Castellanos, 2018). The NCLB, enacted in 2001, focused on the standards and specific, measurable goals of improving student achievement (Aydin et al., 2017). The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act, established in 2009, provided \$10 billion to school districts with large populations of students living in poverty to improve classroom instruction (Okhremtchouk & Jimenez-Castellanos, 2018). The ESSA of 2015 resulted in state leaders endorsing universal learning designs to promote personalized learning for all students (Penuel et al., 2016). All three acts provided accountability measures, including end-of-year assessments, to monitor subpopulations (Garner et al., 2017). Garner et al. (2017) suggested that the legislative acts thus far have not addressed the systemic oppression of marginalized students.

The NCLB, American Recovery and Reinvestment Act, and ESSA have explicitly focused on marginalized students' equitable experiences. Many opponents of end-of-year accountability methods stated that assessments contribute to deficit mindsets about marginalized students, measuring success via unvalidated assessments misaligned to local curricula (Garner et al., 2017) and intensive test preparation strategies (Horn et al., 2016). The educational acts produced the demand for standardization among schools by requiring certain standards, assessments, and curricular resources (Cramer et al., 2017; Egalite & Kisida, 2017). Cramer et al. (2017) argued that focusing on standardization does not address the complex needs of students from marginalized groups. Rather the emphasis should be on the supports and resources needed to counteract the complex barriers encountered by marginalized students.

High-Poverty Schools

Approximately 41% of children in the United States live in low-income families, and 19% are poor (Koball & Jiang, 2020); thus, 41% of children live between 100% and 199% of the federal poverty threshold—more specifically, 19% live below 100% of the federal poverty threshold. In fall 2017, 25% of all public schools were high-poverty schools (NCES, 2019). Approximately 20% of students attending public schools live in poverty (McFarland et al., 2017). Of the 716,416 total students who attend public school, 70.59% are economically disadvantaged (Louisiana Department of Education, 2019). The U.S. Department of Education (2015) defined high-poverty schools as public schools in which more than 75% of the students who attend are eligible for free or reduced lunch rates.

Despite the strides made to improve the academic achievement of students living in poverty, it has been a struggle to identify holistic resources for improving schools in high-poverty communities (Chmielewski & Reardon, 2016; Evans & Popova, 2015; Michelmore & Dynarski, 2017; Owens, 2017; Rogers et al., 2018; Ziol-Guest & Lee, 2016). Consequently, there is a need to ensure the effectiveness of schools in highpoverty communities and improve academic achievement despite the barriers faced by students who live in high poverty (Michelmore & Dynarski, 2017; Schwartz et al., 2019).

Barriers Affecting Student Achievement in High-Poverty Schools

Identifying the barriers faced by students who live in poverty is a critical step in the first ability of equity literacy (Gorski, 2016). Schools in high-poverty communities have many barriers that obstruct students' education, including absenteeism, stress, low funding, and teacher turnover and quality. This section of the literature review presents the barriers and barrier solutions at high-poverty schools and equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools.

Absenteeism

Scholars have argued that chronic absences result in low achievement in math and literacy (Gershenson, 2016; Lee & Bierman, 2015) and that students who live in poverty are at high risk of absenteeism (Durham et al., 2019). An abundance of research on the effects of absenteeism in high-poverty schools indicates that chronic absenteeism contributes to the socioeconomic gaps in reading and math scores (Aucejo & Romano, 2016; Cook et al., 2017; Gershenson, 2016). Such research suggested that students who live in poverty are at a higher risk of absenteeism than students who live in low poverty (Cook et al., 2017).

Chronic absence occurs when a student misses 20 or more unexcused days of school (Attendance Works, 2017). Chronic absence adversely affects student achievement, particularly in high-poverty schools (Durham et al., 2019). Durham et al. (2019) examined the relationship between student attendance and community schools with full-service support. They found that staff members in high-poverty schools were more resistant to support approaches than those in more economically advantaged contexts. Chronic absenteeism could contribute to the income achievement gap (Aucejo & Romano, 2016; Cook et al., 2017). Interventions for student absenteeism are ways to improve the academic outcomes for students living in high poverty (Cook et al., 2017). *Stress*

High-poverty schools often have high rates of student exposure to stress and trauma (Blitz et al., 2016; Morrissey & Vinopal, 2018). The chronic stress that students in high-poverty schools experience is the result of negative peer influences, high crime rates within high-poverty neighborhoods, and rates of parental depression due to a lack of resources (Morrissey & Vinopal, 2018). High-poverty students' chronic stress impacts cognitive functions, such as working memory, decision-making, and problem-solving (Cedeño et al., 2016).

Educators at many high-poverty schools find it challenging to work with students who experience trauma (Blitz et al., 2016; Perry & Daniels, 2016). Blitz et al. (2016) used an exploratory study of school climate to inform trauma-informed practices as a whole-school approach. They captured data from classroom observations, teachers' perceptions, and students' perceptions within one high-poverty elementary school of 1,200 students. Blitz et al. suggested the need for strategies to recognize and respond to students' individual and collective experiences and support the most vulnerable students to counteract barriers to student achievement in high-poverty schools.

Funding

Since the Great Recession, substantial cuts to public education have resulted in layoffs and funding reductions (Knight, 2017). The cuts have had a significant effect on

high-poverty school districts that require federal and state funding for the purchase of resources (Goldhaber et al., 2016). Semuels (2016) found that, on average, there is 15.6% more money spent on students in wealthy districts. Higher funding for high-poverty schools has positive effects on student achievement (Jackson et al., 2015). Knight (2017) found inequitable funding between high- and low-poverty schools in many school districts. In addition, Kainz (2019) analyzed approximately 20,000 kindergarten students to determine the greatest use of Title I funds. Kainz found significant gains in English language arts with Title I funds used to support small classroom sizes; greater use of Title I funds used for teachers' professional development produced more significant benefits in mathematics. Such findings provided insight into which measures contribute to closing the income achievement gap. Increased funding for high-poverty schools can result in increased per-pupil spending for curricular resources, high-quality teachers, technological advancement, and social-emotional development services to address students' home environments.

Teacher Turnover

Effective teachers are central contributors to student achievement (Lee & Bierman, 2015; Quinlan et al., 2018; Schwartz et al., 2019). Despite this fact, high-poverty schools have higher teacher turnover rates than low-poverty schools (Goldhaber et al., 2015; Hirn et al., 2017; Lee & Bierman, 2015). The NCES (2019) found that teachers in high-poverty schools leave at a 50% higher rate than teachers in low-poverty schools. Reasons for the high departure rates included the lack of training on addressing the barriers in high-poverty schools (Aydin et al., 2017), administrative support (Olsen &

Huang, 2019), and resources to address diverse student learning (Carnoy et al., 2015). Thus, teacher turnover in high-poverty schools is another contributing factor to the income achievement gap. However, Carnoy et al. (2015) did not address the effectiveness of teachers who leave high-poverty schools. Swain et al. (2019) examined the effects of retaining highly effective teachers and found greater student gains in subsequent years.

There is a positive correlation between teaching experience and student achievement (Podolsky et al., 2019). McFarland et al. (2017) found a significantly lower percentage of certified teachers in high-poverty schools than in low-poverty schools, which suggests highly trained educators teach in schools with fewer low-income students. McFarland et al. also stated that stable and experienced teaching staff members are more likely to improve student achievement. Goldhaber et al. (2015) examined Washington teachers' years of experience, licensure exam results, and value-added scores and found an inequitable distribution of teacher quality in each indicator for students with free or reduced lunch rates. Such a finding indicated that the students from predominately lowsocioeconomic backgrounds received instruction from teachers with quality gaps.

Recent Solutions of Barriers High-Poverty Schools Face

Crawford et al. (2016) examined the trajectories of students from low- and high-SES backgrounds. The findings showed that, by middle school, high-achieving students from low-SES backgrounds fall behind low-achieving students from high-SES backgrounds. Crawford et al. also suggested that schools have a critical impact on the performance and explanation of the income achievement gap over time. Recent policies and research have proposed various strategies to counteract the barriers in schools in high-poverty neighborhoods (Aydin et al., 2017; Cannon et al., 2017; Cochran-Smith et al., 2018; Cook et al., 2017; Huizen & Plantenga, 2018; Stosich, 2016). Many of these studies provided insight into successful ways to improve student achievement in high-poverty schools, such as by approaching learning from a holistic approach (Cannon et al., 2017; Cochran-Smith et al., 2018).

Several scholars have focused on the interventions found successful within highpoverty schools (Cannon et al., 2017; Cook et al., 2017). Programs such as the Early Truancy Prevention Program (ETTP) and Full Community Schools are proven means of decreasing the percentage of chronic absences among the students who attend schools in high-poverty neighborhoods (Cook et al., 2017; Durham et al., 2019). Cook et al. (2017) measured the effectiveness of ETTP on students' absences in 41 primary classrooms in high-poverty schools and found that ETTP implementation resulted in a 10% reduction of chronic absences, as well as improved parent-teacher communication. Similarly, Durham et al. (2019) examined the relationship between Full Community Schools and student attendance in high-poverty Baltimore City Public Schools. The researchers found a positive correlation between attendance strategies and attendance. Durham et al. noted more resistance to absenteeism strategies at high-poverty schools than low-poverty schools. Ultimately, absenteeism solution strategies are as diverse as the high-poverty schools they address (Bartanen, 2020; Cook et al., 2017; Durham et al., 2019).

García and Weiss (2017) found that high-poverty kindergarten students had entry scores in English and math 1 standard deviation below students from affluent households. However, research shows that early childhood programs are means of increasing the educational attainment of students in high-poverty areas (Cannon et al., 2017; Reynolds et al., 2019; Yoshikawa et al., 2018). There have been federal policies enacted to increase the federal money allocated for early childhood programs for students in high-poverty areas (Bassok et al., 2016); however, early childhood programs vary in coordination and quality (Black et al., 2017; Huizen & Plantenga, 2018). Huizen and Plantenga (2018) examined the effects of universal early childhood using 250 estimates from 30 studies between 2007 and 2017 that had mixed evidence of the effects of early childhood programs and child development. The researchers found that a program's quality was the largest positive academic outcomes indicator.

Equitable Based Practices Within Instruction

Recent legislation includes measures to improve equitable school practices for schools in high-poverty areas. The Race to the Top, NCLB, and ESSA contributed to the demand for standardization, including common standards, assessments, and curricular resources (Cramer et al., 2017; Egalite & Kisida, 2017). Cramer et al. (2017) argued that concentrating on standardization does not address the complex needs of students from marginalized groups. Instead, they suggested focusing on the supports and resources needed to counteract the complex barriers experienced by marginalized students. Garner et al. (2017) stated that the legislative acts do not address the systemic oppression of marginalized students; however, the acts have explicitly focused on the equitable experiences of marginalized students.

Different learning opportunities within various educational systems have provided assistance with the inequality and inequities faced by students in high-poverty areas (Andersen & Andersen, 2015; Lee et al., 2018). More specifically, there are learning opportunities and strategies based on students' socioeconomic backgrounds (Andersen & Andersen, 2015). Equity within instruction has multifaceted definitions (Chu, 2019). Brenner et al. (2016) defined equity as a teacher becoming a change agent within the classroom. Equitable learning environments are schools or classrooms where students' backgrounds do not affect their performance (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2016). Despite the different definitions of equity, each requires a teacher to have the skills, knowledge, and dispositions needed to teach diverse group populations (Lee et al., 2018). Ryoo et al. (2019) asserted that individuals with equity must challenge the systemic inequities in schools.

Equitable instructional practices can contribute to the achievement of students living in high poverty. According to Andrews et al. (2017), equity within classrooms requires teachers to promote equity through critical inquiry and research. Educators can achieve equity by realizing their roles and identities as researchers and activists (Andrews et al., 2017). Rea and Zinskie (2017) defined equitable instructional practices as meeting the need for a culturally, linguistically, and socioeconomically diverse student population. Ryoo et al. (2019) stated that historically underrepresented students should receive instruction that includes rigorous content knowledge, high learning expectations, and classroom environments respectful of their identities, cultural assets, and cognitive skills. Ryoo et al. also determined that teachers must understand how students understand the relationship between school and home lives. Tan and Thorius (2018) utilized an interpretive approach to analyze data and found that identity and power tensions within teacher practices did not contribute to equitable practices. Lee et al. (2018) explored 69 teachers' use of equitable instructional practices in the United States and South Korea. They found that teachers in the United States viewed equitable instructional practices as a moral obligation; in contrast, teachers in South Korea perceived equitable instructional strategies as a standard of excellence for students.

The use of equitable based instructional practices within high-poverty schools has positive effects on student achievement (Lee et al., 2018; Wager, 2014). Hwang et al. (2018) examined the relationship between equitable instructional practices, such as student-centered instruction, socioeconomic status, and scientific or mathematic literacy. The researchers used a linear regression analysis from PISA 2012 and PISA 2015, finding that student-centered instruction was a way to narrow or maintain the gap between students of different SES. Hwang et al. suggested further examination of how teachers implement equitable instructional practices in their classrooms.

Grudnoff et al. (2015) utilized a qualitative research approach to investigate the extent to which student teachers perceived equity was at the forefront of the program. The findings showed the student teachers felt their programs prepared them to teach with a focus on equity in high-poverty areas. In Kavanagh and Danielson's (2019) video analysis of K–6 novice teachers' classroom instruction, novice teachers rarely identified the instructional decisions that addressed the barriers students encountered in high-poverty households. Charalambous et al. (2018) suggested conducting further research on

the correlations between quality and equity in education and the school and teacher factors that reduce the impact of socioeconomic background on student achievement. Further investigation into equitable instructional practices could provide policymakers and researchers with feasible targets on quality and equitable school practices (Charalambous et al., 2018) and additional knowledge on the income achievement gap (Whipple et al., 2016). Hirn et al. (2017) noted a lack of analyses of teaching practices within instruction. Thus, there is an urgent need to foster teachers' instructional quality, especially in settings where high poverty affects school quality.

Summary

This literature review provided insights into current scholarship and recommendations for further research on improving equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. Scholars have suggested the need for in-depth examination to contribute to the body of knowledge, highlighting the need to examine teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices. Gorski's (2016) equity literary theory was an appropriate approach to frame the literature review. There is limited research from teachers' perspectives with the lens of the equity literacy framework. Despite several studies on equitable-based instruction benefits, the researchers did not address equitable instructional practices through teachers' perspectives.

The reviewed literature provided the rationale for examining teachers' perceptions of equitable instructional practices using a basic qualitative study. I grounded this study in the literature to provide insight into the phenomenon from the perspectives of teachers in high-poverty schools. The next chapter presents the study's research design, rationale, research question, methodology, and trustworthiness issues.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. I used qualitative coding methods to identify themes and findings from the participants' semistructured interview responses to answer the guiding research question. This chapter includes a discussion of the research design and rationale, role of the researcher, methodology and design of the study, and the trustworthiness issues that can occur when conducting research.

Research Design and Rationale

Scholars have conducted qualitative studies in many fields, including psychology, nursing, education, and economics (Patton, 2015). There are several qualitative research designs, such as case studies, ethnology, evaluation research, grounded theory, narrative, phenomenology, and photo-voice/visual research (Bamberger et al., 2012; Duneier et al., 2014; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Smith et al., 2013; Yin, 2016). I based this study on Patton's (2015) epistemology of constructivism and used a basic qualitative approach by conducting participant interviews. With the present study, I attempted to understand teachers' perceptions of their abilities to provide equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools; therefore, basic qualitative research was the ideal method for examining this phenomenon.

The participant is the primary data source explored within a basic qualitative design (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Qualitative research requires narrative data collection in the most naturalistic settings possible (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Patton, 2015; Ravitch

& Carl, 2016), which allows a researcher to inquire about participants' life experiences. Qualitative researchers can reveal new insights into the studied phenomena (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). A basic qualitative research design is appropriate for uncovering the meaning participants ascribe to an experience (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015).

I conducted semistructured interviews with the teacher participants to explore their perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in highpoverty schools. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2020) provided guidelines for limiting the number of nonessential visitors at school sites. I conducted interviews via the Zoom video-conferencing platform due to social distancing guidelines. The interview transcripts were analyzed to identify themes and patterns and build concepts and theories.

The conceptual framework and literature review for this study were the means of grounding the following research question: How do teachers in high-poverty schools perceive and describe their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices?

I considered grounded theory as the research design for this study, which is a suitable qualitative approach for developing a theory (see Patton, 2015). However, I rejected this design due to the theories on previously developed equitable instructional practices. Grounded theory was not the most suitable approach for this study because I did not use participant interviews to develop a new theory (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2017). Scholars use the narrative design to study a small population of individuals' lives (Yin, 2018). Narrative research misaligned with the examination of teachers' perceptions of their abilities because I did not conduct the study to describe teachers' lives. The basic

qualitative design was appropriate to conduct in-depth interviews to explore teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices and what they perceived to be the factors that obstruct or enable equitable instructional practices within their classrooms.

Role of the Researcher

Reflexivity is a critical component of a study's reliability (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Reflexivity addresses systematic knowledge construction to ensure that researchers limit their perceptions of the survey (Patton, 2015). As the researcher, I understood that the experts of equitable instructional strategies were the participating teachers; therefore, I needed to acknowledge my biases and perceptions. I addressed reflexivity by ensuring that the data collected accurately represented the participants' descriptions. Qualitative research tends to be subjective, and reflexivity is a means to limit bias within a study (Patton, 2015). Member checking is a validity strategy in which participants review the raw data to verify accuracy (Saldaña, 2016). I engaged the participants in member checking to ensure the accuracy of the data collected in the interviews.

I am an educational specialist for an educational company in the southern United States. My job includes supporting teaching and learning through providing coaching and professional development for school leaders and teachers. I implement effective school plans to foster a focus on instruction. My background working with high-poverty schools enabled me to decode the language teachers used during the interviews. All the participants knew of my professional role when I began the interviews. I used transparency to detach my personal beliefs from the study and conduct the research ethically. Although the participants and I worked in the same field, we were in different districts, and I had no interactions with any of the participants before the study. I followed Walden University's ethical guidelines, obtained IRB approval (Approval No. 01-07-21-0760204), and utilized a peer reviewer to prevent subjectivity.

Methodology

Qualitative researchers attempt to describe phenomena through narrative measurements by determining what a phenomenon within everyday life means to people (Yin, 2018). I used a basic qualitative design to understand the participants' perceptions about the problem or phenomena (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). In this section, I describe the participant selection, instrumentation, data collection, and analysis methods for the study. The goal of the study was to collect in-depth data from the participants through interviews.

Participant Selection Logic

This study's population was a subgroup of K–8 teachers who taught various subjects in Louisiana between August 2020 and January 2021 at a 6 school districts with an approximate enrollment of 14,370 students. The school district consisted of 31 schools, and students at 89% of the schools qualified for free or reduced lunch rates (Louisiana Department of Education, 2019). The student population included 99.3% Black and 0.6% Hispanic students. Creswell and Creswell (2018) argued for limiting participant selection to a few, most-aligned cases within qualitative research. I purposefully selected teachers in line with specified inclusion criteria to ensure the participants' relevance to the study. The participants taught kindergarten through eighth

grade at high-poverty schools, which aligned with the research study and purpose (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2017).

The participants had different levels of teaching experience, which provided varying perceptions for categorization. Purposeful sampling enables in-depth examination of the phenomenon studied (Patton, 2015). I sent the recruitment invitation (see Appendix) only to teachers who fit the study criteria. Determining the sample size entails considering the research questions and study purpose (Merriam & Tisdell 2016; Patton, 2015). The sample size of 10 participants aligned with most qualitative research, which has between six and 12 participants (see Malterud et al., 2016). Saunders et al. (2018) suggested using data saturation to determine the appropriate sample size. Saturation occurred at 10 participants when no new information emerged during the data analysis.

After I received Walden University IRB approval, an authority from the participating organization distributed the recruitment invitation on my behalf via the participants' organizational email. This recruitment invitation contained a description of the study's purpose and participant requirements. Ten teachers emailed me to express their interest in participating and subsequently received a consent form to review and approve. All 10 participants responded to the email with "I consent." I stopped recruitment once saturation occurred (see Saunders et al., 2018)

Instrumentation

Qualitative methods are means of making knowledge-generating contributions (Patton, 2015). These methods can be used to illuminate meaning, study how things

work, capture stories to understand people's perspectives and experiences, elucidate how systems function and theorize consequences for people's lives, understand context, identify unanticipated consequences, and make case comparisons to discover patterns and themes across cases.

The interview guide (see Appendix B) directed data collection. An interview guide is the primary means of data collection in qualitative research and includes the interview questions and protocols to elicit responses for a study (Lewis, 2015; Patton, 2015; Yin, 2016). An interview guide enables a researcher to take a systematic approach to the interview and focus on the designed purpose (Mcgrath et al., 2018).

An interview guide contributes to the comprehensiveness of data collection (Patton, 2015) and aligns with the study's purpose. I used the literature review, research question, and conceptual framework to create interview questions. Developing the interview guide consisted of (a) reviewing the literature of the phenomenon, (b) reviewing the study's conceptual framework, (c) reviewing the methodological sources for a basic qualitative approach, (d) arranging concepts from literature and conceptual framework into chronological order, (e) developing questions for each concept, (f) developing follow-up questions, (g) developing an introduction and closing, and (h) receiving feedback from various sources.

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. I used Gorski's (2016) equity literacy theory as the conceptual framework due to its alignment with the research question. Integrating Gorski's five abilities of equitable educators into the semistructured interview questions enabled me to capture teachers' perceptions of equitable instructional practices. In answering the questions, teachers provided insight into the skills and dispositions they need to promote equitable instructional environments.

Developing interview questions using a semistructured approach is a way to maintain consistent queries while encouraging the participants to answer with vivid detail (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). An advanced qualitative research professor, my dissertation committee members, and three experts working in high-poverty school districts provided feedback on the alignment, structure, and format of the interview guide. Their feedback contributed to the alignment between the interview questions and the main research question. In the first round of feedback, the advanced qualitative research professor determined that the interview guide addressed equity concepts in practice, poverty barriers, and poverty conditions in schools. The professor suggested adding a question to explicitly address the research question. After receiving this feedback, I added the question, "How do you perceive your ability to implement equitable instructional practices in your classroom?" During the proposal review, my committee members determined that the questions aligned with the research questions.

After the committee review, I shared the interview guide with three content experts and received recommendations for improving the format, quality, and alignment. The experts were district-level employees who implemented equitable instructional practices in their school districts' curriculum and instructed leaders in three high-poverty school districts. All the content experts recommended that more probing questions would

44

capture in-depth data from the participants. One expert suggested interviewing teachers who could not define equitable instructional practices and dividing Question 1 into two separate questions. I used this recommendation to develop follow-up questions for additional data if any participant could not define equitable practices. Initially, the question was to define equitable instructional practices. After revision, the question was, "What does equity in education mean for students in poverty? What are the ways that teachers attempt to address inequities within instruction?" Another recommendation was to modify Question 6, which initially was, "How do you perceive your ability to implement equitable instructional practices in your classrooms?" An expert suggested revising that question for more in-depth participant responses; thus, I changed the wording to: "Discuss how prepared you are to implement equitable instructional practices and the reason(s) for your preparedness or lack thereof." After the experts' recommendations, I revised the interview guide to include probing questions and reevaluated the interview questions to ensure alignment with the study's purpose.

I explored the participants' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices through open-ended interview questions. Open-ended questions provide opportunities for participants to answer freely (Creswell & Clark, 2018). I conducted semistructured interviews because they allow for exploring participants' thoughts, feelings, and perceptions (see DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Semistructured interviews enabled me to gather teachers' perceptions and experiences of equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools and identify common themes. Section 1 of the interview guide addressed teachers' definitions of equitable instructional strategies. This question aligned with the overarching research question and literature review, which focused on the strategies that school, district, and state-level leaders use to minimize the income achievement gap (Chmielewski & Reardon, 2016; Engel et al., 2016; Knight, 2017; Rosen et al., 2018; Shing & Yuan, 2017). The second set of interview questions addressed the literature on the barriers that high-poverty students face (Evans & Popova, 2015; Lee et al., 2018; Michelmore & Dynarski, 2017; Owens, 2017; Reardon & Portilla, 2016; Rogers et al., 2018; Ziol-Guest & Lee, 2016). The final set of questions centered around teachers' abilities to implement equitable instructional practices through the equity literacy theory (Gorski, 2016).

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

After receiving IRB approval, I contacted individuals with authority to distribute the recruitment invitation on my behalf. A contact person from each district invited teachers to participate in the survey through an email that presented the study's purpose, details, a request for a 30- to 45-minute interview, and the member checking process. When I received emails from interested individuals, I responded with the consent form for their review and acceptance. After receiving 10 replies of "I consent," I stopped all recruitment efforts. Next, I scheduled Zoom interviews with the participants at times convenient to them.

Before beginning each interview, I explained the study's purpose, gave an overview of the interview questions, and answered any questions. I digitally recorded each interview using the Zoom audio-conferencing platform. During the interviews, I took anecdotal notes to monitor the participants' gestures and facial expressions (see Patton, 2015). After completing the interviews, I scheduled follow-up interviews with the participants to discuss their reflections and answer any follow-up questions. I transcribed the recordings using the Zoom audio-conferencing platform and sent the participants copies of the transcripts to ensure accuracy.

Data Analysis Plan

Data analysis is a critical part of providing descriptive accounts of the findings in a basic qualitative study (Merriam & Tisdell, 2017). Qualitative data analysis is a structured process with data used to identify themes and construct findings based on the themes (Ravitch & Carl, 2016; Yin, 2018). Ravitch and Carl (2016) recommended qualitative techniques for data organization and management and immersive engagement with data, writing, and representation. I used a three-pronged approach to data analysis: transcribing recorded interviews, coding the transcripts, and forming categories and themes (see Miles et al., 2014). Data analysis commenced with the development of the data management plan.

Researchers must create data management plans before beginning studies (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I created a data management plan to ensure that the collected data supported the data analysis process. The data collection process occurred over 1 week. During this time, I interviewed 10 participants for 30 to 45 minutes each using the interview guide (see Appendix B) to guide the process. During the interviews, I took analytical memos to identify any potential themes that might emerge from analyzing the data. Interview transcripts are a means to maintain the fidelity of the data (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). After transcribing the interviews using Zoom, I reviewed the transcripts to ensure accurate representations of the participants' responses. After each interview, I saved the Zoom transcription on a password-protected computer. I prepared the data for coding by comparing the audio recordings to the transcriptions. During this time, I replaced all of the participants' identifying information with pseudonyms and checked the transcripts for accuracy.

Before coding the data, researchers can precode to become familiar with the data (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I precoded immediately after reviewing the transcripts for accuracy, immersing myself in the data, and using analytical memos to identify key ideas after each reading. An analytical memo is a way to reflect during the data analysis process to challenge assumptions (Patton, 2015). I analyzed the transcript summaries after reading them several times, using precoding to identify and classify potential codes. The first pass was the unstructured reading, in which I engaged in the entire data set (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016) for a sense of the data and to narrow the focus of the data set. The codes identified during the precoding process were equitable instruction, background, poverty barriers, collective efforts, equitable instruction definition, equity, experience, instructional materials, knowledge, poverty, and practices.

Each coding round has a different purpose (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The next step in the data analysis process consists of several rounds of coding and vetting themes. After precoding, I coded the data with NVivo (QSR, 2021), a computer-assisted software program, to analyze the interview transcripts. Coding is the process of organizing and dissecting data into segments (Yin, 2016) with an inductive or deductive approach (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The nature of this study required an inductive approach through emergent coding. An inductive approach to coding allows the data set to drive code creation (Saldaña, 2016) for reliable results. In the first round of data analysis, I completed the emergent coding with a line-by-line coding approach to identify initial codes in each data set. The second round of coding was an accuracy check of the initial coding. I conducted several cycles of Round 1 and 2 coding to merge the original set of 47 codes into 11 categories. Next, I used the patterns that emerged from the first and second coding in the third round to identify themes (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Member checking commenced to maintain the participants' perspectives (see Birt et al., 2016) and the findings' credibility after coding. I emailed the participants the initial research findings to verify that I had accurately captured their perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in their schools. In addition to member checking, I increased the analysis's accuracy by debriefing with my dissertation chair and educational colleagues. When there were no codes shared among most participants, I determined if the data provided an insight not explored within the studied phenomenon. I used the literature and conceptual framework to determine if the data aligned with the research question and, if so, included the data in the analysis. If the discrepant data did not provide additional insights or were not useful to develop a category or theme, I discarded them. Saturation occurred when no new significant themes emerged from the data.

Issues of Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness is a researcher's ability to conduct a study credibly and ethically (Yin, 2016) by addressing the criteria of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Thorne, 2016). Ensuring the trustworthiness of a study requires using specific strategies. The following sections present the criteria and strategies used to ensure the study's trustworthiness.

Credibility

Drawing data from sources affects the credibility of a study (Korstjens & Moser, 2017). There were several strategies used to establish credibility in this study. I immersed myself within the data, as outlined in the discussion of the data analysis process and coding techniques. Allowing participants to check for the accuracy of their interpretations is another means of achieving credibility. I conducted member checking to ensure that I accurately captured the perceptions of the teachers interviewed. No participants disagreed with my interpretation.

Transferability

Transferability is whether one can apply the results of a study to a different context (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Shenton, 2004); this is a component difficult to achieve in qualitative studies. High-poverty schools are unique environments with characteristics that differ from other contexts. In addition, the participant pool was 10 teachers. I boosted transferability by presenting vivid accounts of data collection and coding (see Shenton, 2004) to ensure the accurate reflection of other contexts and implications.

Dependability and Confirmability

Dependability and confirmability are indicators of validity within research (Yin, 2018). I ensured dependability and confirmability by fully explaining the interviews to the participants to improve the study (see Shenton, 2004) and increase the potential for consistent findings (see Baxter & Jack, 2008). I also described every step of the study, including the research design, implementation, operational detail, and reflection, to improve the likelihood that other scholars replicating the study would obtain similar results (see Shenton, 2004). Other means of achieving dependability included member checking, verbatim scripting from audio recordings, reflective journaling, and multiple reading and coding. I followed Walden University's IRB research protocols.

Confirmability is the assurance that the findings present the participants' perceptions and not the researcher's (Proctor, 2017). Several strategies occurred to increase the validity of the study through confirmability. I examined the biases that I brought into the study and conducted bracketing in a reflective journal to record recognized biases when conducting the study.

Ethical Procedures

All researchers must adhere to the Code of Ethics from the American Educational Research Association (2019). I took several steps to ensure ethical procedures. First, I did not begin the study until receiving IRB approval. Next, an organization professional sent out recruitment invitations on my behalf. From there, the interested teachers emailed me to express their interest in the study. I then sent consent forms to the potential participants with the study's purpose, potential risks, confidentiality, and interview process. I ensured that participants understood that they could withdraw from the study at any time; if any had done so, I would have selected new participants. Participants emailed back "I consent" to indicate their agreement to proceed. I scheduled the interviews after I received this information.

I maintained confidentiality by not communicating any of the participants' identifying information to employers, organizations, or publications. I stored all transcripts and audio files on password-protected qualitative data analysis software, Zoom, and a password-protected external drive locked in my office. When writing the findings, I removed all identifying information, such as participant and school names. Furthermore, I did not conduct this study within my work environment. Although I work in the same field as the participants, I selected school districts other than my employer. I had no influence or authority over the participants.

Summary

The chapter presented the methodology used to conduct this study. It showed the rationale for conducting a basic qualitative study to explore teachers' perceptions of equitable instructional strategies in high-poverty schools. I also included participant selection logic, instrumentation, recruitment, participation, and data collection procedures. In addition, I discussed the means of achieving trustworthiness and maintaining ethical procedures. In Chapter 4, I present the data collection characteristics, data analysis procedures, and the summary of findings.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. Ten K–8 teachers took part in semistructured interviews to discuss their experiences with using equitable instructional practices in their classrooms. The research question that guided this study was: How do teachers perceive their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools?

In this chapter, I present an overview of the nature of this qualitative study, including its setting and the participant demographics. The chapter also includes an explanation of the data collection and analysis processes used in this study. Following a section on the evidence of trustworthiness, Chapter 3 concludes with a discussion of the results and a summary of the findings.

Setting

In this basic qualitative study, I interviewed 10 K–8 teachers from high-poverty schools in Louisiana. The schools at which the participants taught had a free or reduced lunch rate average of 92.12% (Louisiana Believes, 2020). Each interview lasted 30 to 45 minutes and occurred via Zoom. No personal or organizational conditions influenced the participants' experiences at the time of this study. In addition, I kept a log of the data collection.

Demographics

The participants for this study were 10 K–8 teachers from 10 public schools within six school districts. All participants worked at high-poverty schools during the

2020–2021 school year. I conducted the interviews via Zoom and designated an alphanumeric identifier for each participant (e.g., Participant 1, Participant 2, etc.). There was one male participant and nine female participants. I further protected the participants' identities by not capturing unnecessary demographic data.

Data Collection

In this section, I present the data collection process, including the number of participants; type of data collected; location, frequency, and duration of data collection; and the means of recording the data. The interviews with the 10 participants occurred between January 7, 2021, and January 13, 2021. Each interview lasted between 30 and 45 minutes, with an average of 40 minutes. I was the only researcher and received informed consent from each participant before each interview. At the beginning of each interview, I stated the purpose and described the informed consent and confidentiality procedures being used. Next, the participants answered the interview questions (see Appendix B), and I asked probing questions as appropriate. I concluded the interviews by thanking the participants and asking their permission to conduct follow-up interviews if necessary; however, no follow-ups were necessary. I also asked the participants to take part in member checking to verify my interpretations of their perceptions. Table 1 shows the data collection log.

Table 1

| Data Concenton Los | Data | Coll | lection | Log |
|--------------------|------|------|---------|-----|
|--------------------|------|------|---------|-----|

| Participant ID | Interview date and time |
|----------------|-------------------------|
| Participant 1 | 1/7/2021 4:30 p.m. |
| Participant 2 | 1/8/2021 12:30 p.m. |
| Participant 3 | 1/8/2021 3:30 p.m. |
| Participant 4 | 1/8/2021 7:00 p.m. |
| Participant 5 | 1/8/2021 8:00 p.m. |
| Participant 6 | 1/9/2021 10:00 a.m. |
| Participant 7 | 1/9/2021 2:30 p.m. |
| Participant 8 | 1/10/2021 4: 30 p.m. |
| Participant 9 | 1/12/2021 4:00 p.m. |
| Participant 10 | 1/13/2021 3:30 p.m. |

I used Zoom to audio record all interviews, downloading and storing the audio recordings on a password-protected computer. I did not script the responses during the interviews to avoid distracting the participants and remain attentive. However, during the interviews, I took field notes for details and keywords for the data analysis process. The Zoom platform also transcribed each interview. The participants received draft copies of my interpretations of their perceptions within a week of the interviews to increase the validity of the findings. There were no variations in the data collection plan presented in Chapter 3.

Data Analysis

I conducted all 10 semistructured interviews over 1 week in January 2021 using the interview guide (see Appendix B). The responses from each interview underwent coding before another interview commenced so I could focus and reflect on each data set. I protected the confidentiality of all the participants by assigning numbers to each data set.

After producing the interview transcripts via the Zoom platform, I compared the audio files to the transcripts to check for accuracy. I then uploaded the data sets to the NVivo software to prepare for data analysis. After checking each data set for accuracy, I began the precoding process, in which I read the transcripts several times to immerse myself in and become familiarized with the data. I noted general impressions to identify possible codes, such as background, barriers of poverty, equity, collective efforts, environment, the definition of equitable instruction, instructional materials, poverty, practices, and experience.

After several reads, I began the coding process by using emergent coding during the first round to identify descriptive codes. Line-by-line coding was the process used for descriptive coding. Saldaña (2016) suggested the use of a codebook during data analysis to document codes and categories. During the initial data set analysis, 209 codes emerged. Saturation occurred after a review of the coding for Participant 10's interview responses indicated no new codes.

The second round of coding consisted of identifying patterns. During this process, I wrote another set of analytical memos to capture possible connections between the first and second round of coding. The second round of coding enabled me to delve deeper into the data set. Coding was an iterative process, as I conducted the first and second rounds several times. After completing several rounds of coding with each data set, I merged and reduced the number of codes by identifying redundancy. There was a final total of 47 codes. I identified categories across the data set from the open coding and the conceptual framework and merged the 47 codes into 11 categories by merging relevant similarities. Table 2 presents the 11 categories identified during Round 2 of data analysis.

Table 2

| Data | Analysis | Categories |
|------|----------|------------|
| | | |

| Category | Participants contributing to category $(N = 10)$ |
|--|--|
| Misalignment of teacher beliefs and policies | 7 |
| Student identity lost in organization's policies | 8 |
| Knowledge of students | 7 |
| Relationship building | 5 |
| Life experience | 4 |
| Preparation | 7 |
| Teaching experience | 4 |
| Professional development | 5 |
| Purpose of equitable instructional practices | 9 |
| Commitment | 9 |

In the third round of coding, I examined the patterns through the lens of the conceptual framework. I maintained a reflective journal to document the developing patterns and themes, merging the 11 categories into three themes. This process entailed creating a parent code and aligning all the pattern codes into a child code in NVivo. Table 3 presents the number of data references within the three themes.

Table 3

| Theme | Number of participants who supported the theme | Number of references in the data set to the theme |
|--------------------------|--|---|
| Theme 1: Identity crisis | 10 | 91 |
| Theme 2: Experience | 8 | 57 |
| Theme 3: Principles | 10 | 69 |

Data Analysis: Number of References Included in Themes

After the participant members checked the documents for accuracy, I engaged in a peer review process with several colleagues to discuss my interpretation of the data. The peer-review process was conducted with colleagues who are leading instructional programs in high-poverty schools. Their objective feedback enabled me to examine possible researcher bias during the data analysis process. The peers asked me reflective questions to help condense the emergent themes. For example, several peers suggested that student identities and teacher identities should be merged into one theme. I received feedback on the development of the emergent themes and their alignment to the study. This peer-review process contributed to the credibility of the results.

Word Cloud

Analysis of the data sets to identify common themes showed that the participants used 50 common words to describe their perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instruction practices in their classrooms. I generated Figure 1 using Zoom software and a data set of participant responses with five or more letters. The most frequent words that teachers used were knowledge, believes, and barriers. Several coding rounds indicated that the teachers expressed a strong belief that developing an in-depth knowledge of students was a critical part of providing equitable instructional practices. Throughout the data set, the participants shared having an espoused belief when defining their roles in students' lives and the purpose of equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. All the participants also identified their perceptions of barriers experienced by students who live in poverty. Other prominent terms within this word cloud and the themes identified within the data set were community, equitable, poverty, prepared, classroom, knowledge, and relate.

Figure 1

Zoom Word Cloud



Hierarchy of Codes Related to Conceptual Framework

Figure 2 shows the hierarchy of and alignment between the codes, patterns, and themes to the conceptual framework. There were three overarching concepts within the conceptual framework in the data set. The ability to recognize even the subtlest biases, inequities, and oppressive ideologies was a component coded and referenced 91 times during the data set analysis. The ability to actively cultivate equitable, antioppressive ideologies and institutional cultures was referenced 38 times during the data set analysis. The ability to respond to biases, inequities, and oppressive ideologies in the immediate term was a component coded and referenced 29 times during the data set analysis.

Figure 2

| Abiltiy to recognize e | tiy to recognize even the sublest biases, inequities, and oppressive id | | | | Ability of actively cultivate equitable, a | | | | | |
|------------------------|---|-------------------|-------------------|-----|--|--------|---------|-----------|-------|--|
| | | Tea | cher Identity | c | ommitment | | relatio | nship l | buil | |
| | | cui | riuculum | | | | actior | 15 | | |
| | | test scores | | | | | | | | |
| Students identity | | purpose of equity | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | kı | nowledge of : | studer | its | | | |
| Ability to respond to | biases, inequities, and oppres | | | | | area | languag | | | |
| | teaching expe professior | i i di | | po | / ge | | | IIII | Jr | |
| preperation | | | | | | | | for | mal . | |
| | | | | esc | api | stric | ken | | | |
| | | | Ability to redess | b | decision | stud | . pov | i | mp | |
| | | | Ability to recess | | consci | fr | | | | |
| | life experience | | Admity to redess | | consci | fr | - | | | |
| | life experience | | teachers teach | | consci generati generati | fr | el le | a | curr | |
| Research Question | life experience | | teachers | | generati | leve | el le | a test | curr | |

Zoom Hierarchy Chart of Intersecting Codes

Cycle 1 Coding Summaries

Participant 1

Participant 1 noted that student perceptions are barriers to academic performance. Participant 1's interview produced 16 codes with 34 references. This teacher expressed the need to ensure that barriers due to poverty do not affect students in school. Participant 1 stated that some students felt like "there [was] no hope" for their education. The participants described that students could have negative self-perceptions of their learning abilities because of school experiences. When looking for role models at home, students might report, "I do not feel like I can get somewhere. I just feel like it will be the same thing." Participant 1 expressed that teachers may have negatively impacted students' perceptions of education. For example, the teacher stated, "Students in high-poverty areas might have had teachers [who] destroyed their perception[s] of education, teachers [who] did not go the extra mile, teachers [who] did not care." According to Participant 1, teachers should ensure that barriers do not affect students within the school environment by going "above and beyond" to remove obstacles and give students a "fair shot."

Participant 1 described the ways she implemented equitable instruction in her classroom. However, when discussing the barriers specific to her students, she expressed her colleagues' collective efforts. Students at her school struggled with virtual learning and being caregivers for their younger siblings during the school day. The team she worked with provided flexible school hours to counteract this challenge. She felt that the team's collective efforts to minimize poverty barriers affected student outcomes within her school. Participant 1referred to her team as "problem-solvers." She noted wanting to

receive professional support by "branching out" to enhance her knowledge and skills to counteract students' barriers.

Participant 2

Participant 2's interview produced nine codes with 16 references. Participant 2 defined equity for high-poverty students as "students having access to quality education and students being able to be a part of something where they are given an opportunity to learn." She expressed that teachers felt uncomfortable reaching out to leaders for support with overcoming challenges. The participants identified the barriers that high-poverty students live in as a "generational curse" because the family members do not break generation gaps due to self-perceptions. Participant 2 expressed the need for teachers to have visions for students from high-poverty backgrounds by teaching through the lens of "why." The teacher detailed "creative ways" to meet the learning needs of the students in her class using skills she had developed through self-exploration and experience. Participant 2 believed that she had limited autonomy to provide equitable instruction. However, she received support for instructional best practices from her leadership team and took the initiative to research the best practices to counteract barriers for students. Participant 2 identified the need for support from the administration "that is not punitive." Participant 3

Participant 3's interview produced 32 codes with 82 references. Participant 3 defined equity in education as students having access to individualized resources. She stated that equity in education means educators "ensuring that [students] have the best opportunity to succeed in their academic achievement." Participant 3 noted that providing equity within instruction requires teachers to be "intentional" about equity. She expressed that classroom lessons should include multiple "opportunities [for students] to share their thinking." The teacher expressed concern about promoting inequities in the classroom through biased instructional materials. For example, Participant 3 remarked, "The curriculum does not provide many images that [students can] relate to." She felt pressured to "teach [for] a standardized test" and tailor her instruction to "average learners."

Participant 3 felt that educators should reflect on practices to examine inequities. One theme expressed several times was the need to review behaviors as a teacher to improve equitable instruction practices. For example, she said, "Students in high-poverty schools do not see many teachers [who] look like them." Participant 3 believed teacher, school, and district leader biases contribute to inequitable policies and practices. She implemented equitable instructional practices in her classroom by "providing real-world connections and expressions." Participant 3 believed that the key to an equitable classroom was a classroom environment that is a "safety net." The participant made sure that her students felt valued. Valuing students and allowing them to "express themselves" was how Participant 3 went "beyond the curriculum."

Participant 3 perceived that students in high-poverty communities experience "identity cris[es]," and she sought to show them that they were "valued, seen, and loved." She noted that the pressure to achieve a specific goal for a test score obstructed her autonomy in implementing equitable instructional practices. Participant 3 stated, "You [teachers] have to kind of stay locked into the curriculum, to the scope and sequence, making sure that you are on this pace." In the first 15 years of the participant's teaching career, she did not feel adequately prepared to implement equitable instructional practices. She described a lack of support in developing the skills and craft she needed. Participant 3 felt more prepared to implement equitable instructional practices through training and resources due to personal research. The teacher desired to receive support and professional development to help students overcome the barriers of poverty.

Participant 4

Participant 4's interview produced 31 codes with 76 references. The participant felt that many teachers in high-poverty schools do not have the knowledge and skills they need to implement equitable instructional practices. For example, she stated, "Many parents are focused on survival, and many teachers do not understand that." Participant 4 expressed having the moral obligation to "model the importance of education" and take on a "parental role" because she also had a high-poverty background. She identified the skills and knowledge that teachers need to become threats to inequities, such as goalsetting with students, building an in-depth knowledge of students, being consistent with presence, and modeling high expectations. The teacher expressed that she could not "fully equip the students" but that she was laying "a foundation for skills that can carry them."

The teacher described her preparedness because of her relatability to the students, stating, "I am them." She inspired her students by using her life experiences to guide relationship-building in the school. She expressed that students could sense "genuine care" and perform better when they know others care about them. She felt like students

do not understand, which causes some educators to judge students. Based on inequities within schools, she said, "I see a removal of our [students'] culture."

Participant 4 felt that students need "a little bit more than the curriculum," explaining, "Materials in my school do not glorify the students' identities." The teacher felt like the curriculum was "not diverse enough." She believed in analyzing multiple aspects of students' data because "they should not be a number." The participant perceived that, as a school and organization, there was a focus on students' deficits. As a result, there were inequitable opportunities provided to students within high-poverty schools across the district.

Participant 5

Participant 5's interview produced 26 codes with 47 references. Participant 5 defined equity for high-poverty students as "students having equal opportunities and experiences within a school." She described "creativity" as a critical skill that teachers must possess to provide equitable instructional materials. She believed that there was a lack of funding for providing students with materials and opportunities. She designed lessons to build background knowledge of the topics she taught. The participant also believed that "systemic injustices" contributed to the barriers her students faced. She recalled taking a vocabulary assessment as a child and that her family members referred to a term in a way different from the assessment. She believed in "intentional and strategic" experiences for students, consistently discussing that students' knowledge is key to success. For example, she used Socratic seminars to allow her students to share

various values and knowledge. Further, the teacher discussed the irrelevancy of the curriculum to the culture of her students.

Participant 5 believed that changes in autonomy occur as a teacher gains experience. She noted that her classroom's limited resources obstructed her autonomy to implement equitable instructional practices in her classroom. She perceived her administrators as supportive of equitable instructional practices. She believed that the organization determines the autonomy, which often presents a challenge. The participant said, "If the administration cannot relate to the students, then they [administrators] are not going to allow a teacher to have the autonomy to get it done the way [that] it needs to get it done."

Participant 5 believed that professional development opportunities were insufficient means of preparing teachers for equitable instructional practices. She noted that she related to high-poverty students because she grew up in the same environment. She planned lessons with students' barriers in mind and believed that her shared background enabled her to teach with "compassion." She said, "It is bigger than textbook practice." Participant 5 felt prepared to teach students in poverty, explaining, "I have to be a problem-solver because I had to grow up solving problems."

Participant 6

Participant 6's interview produced 38 codes with 70 references. Participant 6 explained that her organization's leaders shifted funds to ensure that students in poverty have access to technology, high-quality curricular materials, and certified teachers. She believed that knowing where students are academically and using data "is the foundation" for individually meeting students' needs. It is an expectation within the organization that instruction should provide for the needs of individual students. The teacher believed that "education is elevation" for students in poverty. Her students experienced generational poverty, and she related to students because she grew up in a similar environment. However, she believed that funding largely contributed to inequities. She said, "It is unfortunate because some districts get the best teachers that money can buy."

Participant 6 believed that education was a "Catch-22" for students who live in poverty. She said,

In order for me to get out of poverty, I would have to be educated, but my education is not [of] a high quality; what kind of chance do I stand of escaping poverty? So, the statistics are very low for students who live in poverty.

Further, the participant stated, "Education is one factor that helps students move out of poverty." As a teacher who grew up in a poor family, she believed that acknowledging and identifying her biases made her better able to implement equitable instructional practices. She noted that personal work began with the teacher.

Participant 6 "[did] her groundwork" and determined "why" her students expressed themselves in certain ways, academically and behaviorally. Participant 6 believed that nothing could provide adequate preparation for a teacher to implement equitable instructional practices. She proclaimed that providing equitable instructional practice was a "choice" and supported putting systems in place to provide instructional support for students. The participant noted that supporting equitable instructional practices requires parental improvement on the district level. Participant 6 asserted that teachers wanted to feel "safety" when making instructional decisions.

Participant 7

Participant 7's interview produced 21 codes with 50 references. Participant 7 described equity in education as "having the same opportunity as any [other] student." She discussed several ways that her school offered equitable opportunities for students for example, "We provide afterschool programs." She believed that after-school programs gave students who lacked assistance at home the chance for enrichment and remediation. She noted that the lack of resources obstructed her ability to provide equity in the classroom. However, she proclaimed that the school principal "goes above and beyond to ensure that the [students] get what they need." The principal held "job fairs" for parents to "bridge the gap between school and home."

Technology was a resource that obstructed the participant's instruction. Participant 7 believed that her school had many certified teachers but that there were "deficits," as many lacked the pedagogical skills and experience to close the achievement gap. She built "background knowledge" and "vocabulary" in her classroom to ensure success. She believed that "trauma-informed practices" contributed to her ability to implement equitable instructional practices in her classroom. She "connects learning to what they [students] can relate to" and stated that she is "up until midnight" to determine "what do I need to do to get [students] to understand?" She desired more "support" from the administration in implementing equitable instructional practices in her classroom.

Participant 8

Participant 8's interview produced 14 codes with 34 references. Participant 8 described equity in education as providing students with "resources and support" to become successful. He believed that his knowledge of "students' background[s]" gave him the ability to support students to "meet their potential." Participant 8 asserted that the "lack of community resources" obstructed students' ability to succeed and that it was his job "to provide opportunities that bridge the gap." Participant 8's philosophy was motivating students to believe that "I am someone." Such a mentality was the key to his ability to implement equitable instructional practices.

Participant 8 described several experiences he provided to students to ensure that "community barriers" did not obstruct their ability to succeed in school. He valued students' "rich culture" to enable them to believe in themselves. He also provided opportunities to connect home life and school for students within classroom instruction. Participant 8 felt he needed to enrich the curricular materials because it was not "culturally relevant" to his students. The teacher described his preparedness to provide equitable instructional practices are due to his experience teaching in high-poverty schools. Participant 8 believed that his students were "fighting" for their identities. Ultimately, Participant 8 wanted more support from "the district office" to increase his skills and provide students with "resources and opportunities."

Participant 9

Participant 9's interview produced 12 codes with 18 references. The participant described equity in education as "giving students opportunities to succeed regardless of

where they live." Participant 9 believed she had to "encourage" and not "judge" students for them to succeed in school. Participant 9 stated that her experience growing up in a high-poverty household enabled her to provide equitable instructional practices. She described that poverty presented barriers, such as a "lack of food" or "supplies" to her students. Participant 9 brought "food and supplies" to her students each year. She took steps toward "building her students' self-esteem" to help them begin "excelling in school." She believed that building relationships to "understand" students were the key to counteracting students' barriers within her classroom.

Participant 9 described policies, such as "grading and curricular practices," that obstructed her ability to provide equitable experiences in her classroom. She believed that "evaluation policies confined" teaching practices in her classroom. She used instructional strategies her "administration does not know about" to provide equitable instructional practices. She believed the "organizations" focus" is "the standardized test." By means of solving the problem, Participant 9 felt that "funding" could contribute to the provision of equitable instructional experiences for her students. Participant 9 also desired support through "community and parental relationships" and a connection between the "school and community."

Participant 10

Participant 10's interview produced 10 codes with 20 references. Participant 10 discussed the "generational barriers" of students who live in poverty. The participant believed that providing equity for students in poverty required giving them time to relate to instructional practices and curriculum. She referenced background knowledge as a

barrier that obstructed students in her classroom, one she counteracted by building background knowledge in daily lessons.

Participant 10 described experiences in which she and her colleagues were reprimanded for "deviating from the script." She found it challenging to connect learning for students who live in poverty because she did not come from the same environment. Participant 10 believed the organization did "not know the difference between equity and equality," which obstructed her ability to implement equitable instructional practices in her classroom. Participant 10 expressed a commitment to teaching in high-poverty schools.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

I utilized several strategies in this study to ensure credibility. The interview guide received several rounds of feedback from committee members and experts in the education field, which I used to modify questions and increase alignment to the research question. Member checking occurred with the participants to verify that I had accurately interpreted their perceptions and achieved credibility. Additionally, peer debriefing enabled me to examine my bias when interpreting the data. Finally, I explored the data set through the lens of the study's literature review and conceptual framework.

Transferability

The following steps contributed to the study's transferability. The sampling strategy provided for a diverse participant selection. I invited teachers from six school districts in Louisiana, for a total of 8,692 teachers. I used numerous direct quotes from the 10 interviews to describe the participants' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices within high-poverty schools. I undertook detailed documentation of the data collection, requirement, and coding with Zoom software to ensure the study's transferability. In addition, I recruited participants having various levels of teaching experience from multiple school districts to enhance transferability.

Dependability

I used several strategies to increase dependability. There was consistent data collection, recruitment, and analysis process among all participants. I checked the audio recordings for accuracy several times. Member checking enabled me to confirm my interpretations of the findings consistent with the data set. In addition, peer debriefs allowed for an internal agreement after coding the data.

Confirmability

I used several approaches to establish this study's confirmability, including field and interview notes throughout the data collection and analysis process for reflexivity. Reflexivity enabled me to examine my biases toward the phenomenon under study. In addition, I engaged in line-by-line open coding to analyze the data beyond the study's conceptual framework and identify discrepant data.

Results

This study had one research question on teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. The findings showed that participants believed they had adequate preparation to implement equitable instructional practices within their classrooms. However, three themes emerged pertaining to factors that obstructed or contributed to their abilities to implement such practices.

The first theme was teachers' belief that district policies and practices obstructed equitable instructional practices because they caused conflict in identities. The identity crisis theme had two subthemes: teacher identify and student identity. The second theme was teachers' perceptions that experience provided preparation for implementing equitable instructional practices. This theme had two subthemes: life experience and classroom teaching experience. Principles were the third theme, as the participants described three principles that they instinctively applied to their equitable instructional practices. The theme of principles had three subthemes: commitment, relationshipbuilding, and knowledge of students. The following sections present each theme in detail.

Theme 1: Identity Crisis

The first theme identified through data set analysis showed that the participants experienced identity crises due to district practices and policies. This theme had two subthemes: teacher identity and student identity. For the primary research question, the teachers reflected on their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices within their classrooms. The teachers described the autonomy and flexibility of or barriers to implementing equitable instructional practices. All 10 participants expressed the importance of providing equitable instructional practices; however, they discussed how district practices and policies could obstruct these practices.

The participants identified equitable instructional strategies as a significant step in closing the income achievement gap. All 10 participants perceived equitable instructional

practices as commitments sometimes out of their control as teachers. There was a shared vision of using equitable instructional practices to counteract the barriers their students encountered daily. They believed that equity in education provided students with "a fair shot at success in life through [the] opportunities given within the school environment." Participants 5, 7, and 9 asserted that equitable practices gave students opportunities to combat poverty barriers. Specifically, Participant 2 referred to equity in education as "students having access to quality education and being able to be a part of something where they are given an opportunity to learn."

Participant 6 referred to equitable instruction for students who live in poverty as "elevation." Participant 3 stated,

I think that equity offered in high-poverty areas means that students can access individualized resources to give them the best opportunity for an education. These [resources] will enable them to be productive citizens after they graduate high school and move on to adulthood.

Participant 1 said that equity in education for students who live in poverty "means that everybody [students] has a fair shot, regardless of any circumstances, regardless of background, home life, or any ethnicity or anything social [or] economical, they have the same shot as anybody else."

All the participants expressed a strong belief in the importance of equitable instructional practices. However, when asked about the autonomy or flexibility in implementing equitable instructional practices, they described the district policies and procedures obstructing their abilities to implement these practices due to the lack of flexibility they believed to have in the classroom. The participants also discussed the impact of practices and policies on the identities of educators and students.

Subtheme 1: Teacher Identity

A subtheme of identity crisis that emerged was that the teachers lacked the autonomy to implement equitable instructional practices within their classroom. Seven of the 10 participants described how their organizations contributed to dismantling equitable instructional practices through 11 coded references. Several participants expressed the misalignment between the practices they needed to incorporate in their classroom and the practices they were allowed to incorporate. The participants described the obstacles presented by district policies and procedures. Several participants described how the organizational practices used to track and monitor student growth contribute to inequities. For example, Participant 3 discussed the organizational norm of grouping students by ability, stating, "I think, for years, as educators, we tended to think that [the] grouping of achievement-leveled students together would produce an increase in their performance." Similarly, Participant 6 noted how data tracking practices focused on the negative aspects of student learning. Participant 4 stated,

They never address how we can push [students] forward; we focus on the struggling learner, not the advanced learner. How will we accelerate the advanced learners? High-poverty schools are predominately filled with struggling learners, so the advanced learner never gets opportunities.

The participants also described the pressure of teaching for standardized test scores. Participant 3 remarked,

If we want to speak realistically, sometimes districts contribute to inequities. For example, sometimes the pressure placed on teachers to perform in terms of test scores lends itself to teachers' targeting their instruction to teach to average- to high-average learners, and it is sometimes those students in poverty demographics [who] get lost in the shuffle.

Participant 5 described the use of mandated curricular materials that do not provide for students' needs:

We are forced into a curriculum. And I know [our organization] wants a rigorous curriculum. However, sometimes, I feel that our [students] need a little bit more of something else in addition to the curriculum. I see how the curriculum is not representing [demographic of students]. So, I feel that when we choose curricula, we need to choose curricula representing students. We [demographic of students] are included in the curriculum, but in a way that does not glorify us [demographic of students]. I am saying we [demographic of students] are seen in the same impoverished light.

Another example of the misalignment with the participants' teaching visions was the mandated curricula. Six participants described curriculum usage. The teachers perceived curriculum mandates as a practice disadvantageous to students living in poverty. More specifically, the teachers felt pressured to stay on pacing calendars even though the students had not mastered grade-level standards. Participants 4, 5, and 7 stated that their curricula did not provide for all students' needs. Participant 9 described getting penalized on an observation score because she was not on the target or pace for the organization's scope sequence. Participant 9 reported,

I have been told, "No, you cannot say this." [Organizational leaders] are telling [us] what [we] have to say: "Why are you moving away from the script?" I was penalized for my evaluation scores for it. I know my students. I know what I need to do to get them there. And immediately, I was shut down.

Participant 7 expressed frustration about the time constraints required by the organization's scope and sequence. Participant 7 stated,

All [school administrators] said was, "Wherever the district tells you, you need to be [scope and sequence], you need to be on pace." If [district personnel] come to your room, if they say they want you on unit 10, that is where you need to be. This is very frustrating to me because I just felt like I was always racing the clock. And when students did not get it, there was no time for reteaching. There was no time for going back and reviewing content. That was unfair to my students and me.

Subtheme 2: Student Identity

The participants also described how organizational practices in policies contributed to students' struggles to express their identities. Eight of the 10 teachers shared experiences in which they perceived that district policies and procedures obstructed students' identities and expression. Several participants discussed the lack of equitable opportunities provided to high-poverty schools. For example, Participants 3, 7, 9, and 10 mentioned that students' opportunities vary based on SES and school. Participant 9 stated, "The other schools within that same district should also offer enrichment programs to students, regardless of where they live."

Participant 7 also discussed the lack of resources provided to the students in her classroom. She acknowledged that a lack of technology obstructed her provision of an equitable classroom environment:

One barrier that sticks out to me this year more than ever is the lack of updated technology. I have five computers in my classroom. Moreover, out of the five, only one works correctly. And that is because it is the newest one that I received 2 years ago. But it does not have a camera.

Students could not obtain instruction without access to technology due to the organization's COVID-19 school attendance policies.

The teachers asserted that students could not express their identities due to a lack of culturally relevant organizational practices, policies, and curricula. Eight participants emphasized the lack of curricula relevant to students, which they believed obstructed student identities by not enabling them to express themselves individually. Participant 3 stated, "Students do not get that opportunity to see images in their textbooks in the curriculum [that] relate to them and their culture. For me, the education system and the policies that are in place contribute to inequity."

Participant 4 believed that the curriculum at her school contributed to deficit thinking about students' identities:

Instead of enhancing the kids' culture and [focusing] on diversity and embracing that and teaching [students] to embrace it, [it is] almost like the curriculum wants to remove it from them. I do not want to take away their dialect.

Many participants also described how the mandated curricular materials focused on homework, which they felt was an unfair practice for many students living in poverty. Participant 6 stated, "There is no homework. Whether the curriculum suggests that or not, I am never going to assign it." She described how many students lived with parents who worked several jobs who could not complete homework with their children. The parents had to choose "survival" over homework.

The participants' perceived that certain organizational policies and practices obstructed their implementation of equitable instructional practices. One participant said, "My ability as a teacher to do what I know is best for students is hindered by district policies and practices." The participants also described how specific organizational policies obstructed students' self-identity and "expression."

Theme 2: Experiences

The participants discussed their preparation for implementing equitable instructional practices in their classrooms. Five of the 10 teachers said the organizationprovided professional development opportunities and teacher preparation programs did not provide sufficient preparation for equitable instructional practices. Participant 3 said, "I felt like I was not adequately prepared to provide students with differentiated instruction [or] provide equity in their educational experience." Participants 5, 6, 7, and 8 described needing more complex preparation for equitable instructional practices than available in teacher preparation programs and district-level professional development. Participant 5 said, "Teaching in poverty preparedness does not come from what you get in district-led professional developments, so honestly, it cannot prepare you for equitable instruction inside the classroom. Teaching in a poverty-stricken area is more than instructional strategies."

Similarly, Participant 10 reported,

There is nothing to prepare you for it. You can hear things in theory. Whether you go through an alternative certification program or you go through college, there are some things that you just will never be prepared for until you are in it.

Most participants expressed a lack of preparation for equitable instructional practices, but eight participants believed they were prepared for the experience. Two subthemes of experiences emerged from the data set: personal life experience and classroom teaching experience.

Subtheme 1: Life Experience

The subtheme of life experiences emerged from the participants' beliefs that their personal experiences helped them implement equitable instructional practices. The participants described the life experiences that had an impact on their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices. Four of the 10 participants felt that growing up in similar backgrounds enabled them to respond to biases, inequities, and oppressive ideologies in their classrooms. Participant 9 thought that her life experiences had prepared her, and she used her life story to relate to her students. Participant 6 expressed that her life experiences were why she focused on access and equity for her students. Participant 4 stated,

I say I can only speak to my own experiences [of] being in low-performing impoverished schools. Knowing what it is like to be there, knowing what it is like to be that kid [the student who lives in poverty]—I feel that experience is my best teacher.

Participant 5 related to students and understood their needs within the classroom:

I can relate to [living in poverty] because I was once a free-lunch student. I have the personal history to relate to it. I have a sense of what my students need. My teacher knowledge of students kicks in a lot when I am preparing something for my students. I have the compassion, or I understand what the situation [barrier] is, and what is needed for them to be able to be successful because I come from [poverty].

Participant 9 believed that her life experiences enabled her to teach students living in poverty, and she used her life story to relate to her students.

Subtheme 2: Classroom Teaching Experience

The subtheme of classroom teaching experience emerged from the participants' beliefs that teaching experiences contributed to their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices. The participants described the benefits of learning their students' backgrounds throughout their teaching experiences. Additionally, the teachers noted how their experience teaching high-poverty students enabled them to counteract societal inequities in their classrooms. Participants 1, 3, 8, and 10 expressed that they lacked

sufficient preparation for effectively teaching high-poverty students at the beginning of their teaching careers. Participant 3 stated, "I would say, in terms of being an educator now—[because] this is my 25th year—I would say for the first 10 to 15 years, there was this feeling of not being adequately prepared." The participants believed that there was no way to fully prepare educators to teach students living in poverty; they had to learn by doing it. Participant 10 stated, "You never know until you are in it." Participant 8 described events in his classrooms for which he could have only prepared with teaching experience. He said, "I know that nothing in my day is ever fully prepared, no matter how prepared I think I am for the day. So, what prepares me for [my students]? My own job experience and life."

The participants described the experiences that prepared them for implementing equitable instructional practices. I categorized their experiences as either life experiences or teaching experiences. The participants described how life and classroom teaching experience had provided them with the principles they needed to counteract barriers and implement equitable instructional practices within high-poverty schools.

Theme 3: Principles

All 10 participants attributed their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices to several principles that they instinctively applied to their teaching practices. The data analysis produced 37 codes, in which the 10 participants described how they applied an equity lens to their pedagogies, practices, and process decisions. I categorized the 37 codes into three subthemes: commitment, knowledge of students, and relationships. The participants shared the belief that one pedagogical practice could not

contribute to equitable instructional practices. The data also showed that implementing equitable instructional practices is a complex alignment between multiple support layers. The complex alignment within practices focused on prioritizing students' and families' needs within their schools.

Subtheme 1: Commitment

The subtheme of commitment emerged from data analysis in the participants' beliefs in the principles of commitment to using equity and decision-making to inform instructional practices. The participants described their commitment to their students with a collective vision of their students focused on equity. Participant 2 described applying all decisions "through the lens of why." Participant 3 described her commitment to her students as "a passion for growing" when discussing equity for students living in poverty. Participant 1 described a commitment to "removing barriers" to student progress to "give them a fair shot." Participant 5 described her commitment as "intentional" and "strategic" opportunities for students. According to Participant 6, implementing equitable instructional practices takes a "willingness to do what it takes to make sure that student needs are being met." She stated, "When you talk about breaking the barriers of generational poverty, then we start to think about, well, then what would be something that could potentially be a stepping stone? Well, education is elevation."

The participants also revealed their commitment to enhancing their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices through reflective practices. They also described searching for professional development opportunities to improve their abilities to apply an equity lens to their pedagogies and process decisions. Participant 8 believed that the key to her teaching ability was "reflecting on your practices and things you are doing." Participant 1 committed to professionally developing her instructional practices and stated, "I always reach out, learn about best equitable practices." Participant 1 and Participant 4 described "creating my opportunities to develop my craft."

The participants' principle of commitment to equitable instructional practices was their way to cultivate equitable, antioppressive ideologies and intuitional cultures. They also described the principle of having an in-depth knowledge of their students. Knowledge of students was the second subtheme of the principles theme.

Subtheme 2: Knowledge of Students

Seven of 10 participants described how their in-depth knowledge of their students contributed to their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices. The participants noted how they learned about their students to enhance student learning. They defined their in-depth understanding of students as "background knowledge," which they used to "meet students' needs-based [on] where those students are individual[ly]." More specifically, Participant 1 stated, "Know your students, both in what they do in the classroom [and] what goes on in their home li[ves]."

The participants described several experiences within their teaching careers when their in-depth knowledge of their students enabled them to meet students' needs. Participant 2 provided an example: "[A student] could not focus because they were hungry. I may provide them a snack that they can eat, [and] I let them leave the room to eat the snack." The participant perceived addressing her student's hunger as an equitable practice because it enabled the student to concentrate on the lesson after meeting a basic need. Participant 1 also shared how she used background knowledge to make instructional decisions:

Even in this virtual realm, there are barriers. This is something that we are dealing with today. For example, [barriers] might be [what] students are during the school day, [they might be] struggling because they might be taking care of siblings at home. This means that I need to be available for those students in the evenings and afternoons to help them with their school work.

All the participants valued their knowledge of students and viewed it as an opportunity to enhance student learning in their classrooms. The data also produced the subtheme of relationships that aligned with teachers' in-depth knowledge of their students. Subtheme 3 of the principles within equitable instructional practices was relationship-building to implement equitable instructional practices.

Subtheme 3: Relationships

The participants noted that building positive relationships with students and parents was a vital part of providing equitable instructional practices. Participant 1 believed that "my job as an educator [is] to try to figure out what I can do" to counteract the barriers to student success by "working with the family and working with the student." Participant 8 stated that teachers must "build that relationship with your [students]" to implement equitable instructional practices, and he accomplished this by making himself available to parents and students. Participant 8 stated, "I have a connection with the parents in this community." The positive relationships between the participants and the students and their parents enabled the participants to "create within the [students] a desire to perform and to grow." The participants perceived relationship-building as a way of becoming "relatable" to parents and students. Participant 4 described the effects of being "relatable to students" as "the more relatable I am to them, the more they want to perform." In addition, Participant 8 believed relationship-building contributed to "boosting [students'] confidence, letting them know that they deserve an education."

The participants described the principles contributing to their ability to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. In the subtheme of principles, the participants showed their commitment to equity in their instructional practices and process decisions. For the subtheme of student knowledge, the participants provided for students' differentiated needs. Finally, for the subtheme of relationships, the participants described how relationship-building supported equitable instructional practices. The participants expressed that such principles enabled them to prioritize the needs of their students and their students' families.

Discrepant Data

One unique code that did not align with the emergent themes was the belief that teachers should accept administrative support. Participant 2 described professional development needs differently than the others. Participant 2 perceived teachers as unwilling to receive professional support:

Teachers need to look at support through a positive lens. Also, [they must be] able to feel comfortable with coteaching [supports]. Teachers can fully understand what they are doing when looking at the lesson. [They must] not just [be] reading and highlighting, but taking their lessons and digging in more profoundly, maybe even pre-teaching [curriculum] to themselves, but not just looking at [curriculum] at the surface level.

Summary

This chapter presented the findings of teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. I addressed this study's purpose with a basic qualitative research approach with teachers from six school districts. I answered the research question by interviewing 10 participants from highpoverty schools. All 10 teachers discussed the purpose and importance of implementing equitable instructional practices within high-poverty schools, describing their abilities through rich descriptions of their principles. Many participating teachers expressed that they did not learn how to create equitable classroom environments through professional development or in teaching programs. Instead, they considered their personal lives and classroom teaching experiences as preparation for teaching students in high-poverty schools. Although all the participants committed to cultivating equitable, antioppressive ideologies and institutional cultures, they believed that organizational practices and policies obstructed their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices. The teachers expressed the need for further development for equitable instructional practices.

Gorski's (2016) equity literacy theory was the conceptual framework used to develop the interview questions and analyze the data. The equity literacy theory presents the five critical abilities that educators must embrace to create and sustain equitable schools. Overall, the participants in this study showed their commitment to understanding and deepening their knowledge of equitable instructional practices.

In Chapter 5, I present an overview of the study and my interpretations of the findings categorized by the research question and the conceptual framework. Chapter 5 also includes the study's limitations, recommendations for future research, implications for practices and research, and the study's conclusion.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. The study population consisted of 10 K–8 teachers who worked in high-poverty schools in six districts in Louisiana. The participants had varying levels of teaching experience. The research question guiding the study was: How do teachers in high-poverty schools perceive and describe their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices? The findings showed that the teachers perceived that they could implement equitable instructional practices; however, they identified the factors that obstructed or contributed to their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools as: (a) organizational practices and policies, (b) experiences that contributed to their preparedness to implement equitable instructional practices, and (c) principles that influenced their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices. I used Gorski's (2016) equity literacy theory to categorize, analyze, and compare teachers' interview responses related to the framework's five abilities. In this chapter, I present the study findings, limitations, recommendations, and implications.

Interpretation of the Findings

The participants described their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools and perceived that they could implement such practices. They provided examples of how they put equitable instructional practices at the forefront of their decision-making as teachers. The participants also discussed how their instructional practices aligned with their definitions of equity for students living in

poverty. The findings of this study confirmed, invalidated, and contributed to both the concept of equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools and the conceptual framework of this study.

Interpretation of Findings Related to the Research Question

The findings from this study aligned with existing research on equitable instructional practices. The participants provided several examples of the instructional practices they perceived contributed to their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices, such as learning students' needs and recognizing the perpetuation of inequities in schools. These findings aligned with those of Allen and FitzGerald (2017), who found that invitational practices and cultural care, such as listening to students and recognizing their basic needs, had a positive impact on students reaching their potential. In addition, the findings aligned with the literature that equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools are complex phenomena related to sociological and pedagogy (Hwang et al., 2018). Gridnoff et al. (2015) described recognizing the school practices enabling the reproduction of inequities as an equitable practice for improving marginalized students' outcomes. Moreover, Cochran-Smith et al. (2015) suggested that teachers understand the work they need to change a system, not the individual student.

Alternately, the findings from this study did not align with existing research on equitable instructional practices based on this practice setting. Participants consistently detailed an arrangement between their perceptions of the purpose of equity and their instructional practices. For example, participants were able to detail how they counteract poverty barriers that students experience within their classroom environment. This finding did not match several studies showing a misalignment in teachers' perceptions and their instructional actions for equitable practices. Nadelson et al. (2019) measured how equity mindset aligns with instructional practices, with their participants consistently detailing a misalignment between their perceptions of the purpose of equity and their instructional practices. Likewise, Sandoval et al. (2020) found inconsistencies between how teacher candidates conceptualized equity and instructional practices. Such findings suggest the need for further research to align teacher practices to an equity literate mindset.

The findings from this study contributed to the literature by presenting the themes that positively or negatively impacted teachers' abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. The participants perceived themselves as prepared to implement equitable instructional practices; they also described their guiding principles and experiences that contributed to their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices. The teachers further discussed the organizational policies and practices that obstructed their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices.

Interpretation of Findings Related to the Conceptual Framework

I used Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework to guide this study, construct the research question, and explore teachers' perceptions in high-poverty schools. The findings provided insight into teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices, and I related their perceptions to the framework's five abilities. Three themes emerged from the data analysis:

- Organizational policies and practices obstructed equitable instructional practices by causing conflicts in teacher and student identities.
- 2. The teachers developed the ability to respond to biases, inequities, and oppressive ideologies in the immediate term through life and teaching experiences.
- The teachers described the ability to actively cultivate equitable, antioppressive ideologies and institutional cultures as the principles that they applied to their instructional practices.

Identity Crisis

Several scholars have explored the impact of inequitable conditions on student achievement (Michelmore & Dynarski, 2017; Owens, 2017; Rogers et al., 2018). Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework presents this ability as a foundational step in becoming a threat to inequities. The current study participants identified the subtlest biases, inequities, and oppressive ideologies in learning materials and classroom interactions. In addition, the participants recognized the disadvantages that school and organizational policies present to marginalized students. The participants' perceptions aligned with the literature that indicates that inequitable practices produce barriers for students living in poverty, such as a lack of resources (Baker & Weber, 2016; Knight, 2017), focus on a standardized test (Horn et al., 2016), ability-grouping students (Garner et al., 2017), and lack of culturally relevant curriculum (Ladson-Billings, 2014). Baker and Weber (2016) detailed the impact of a lack of funding in high-poverty schools on resources and opportunities for students living in poverty. The current study findings aligned with the research that shows that limited resources contribute to inequities within the school environment. However, this study also contributed to the literature by showing how teachers in high-poverty schools counteract such barriers by providing their students with opportunities and resources.

In equity literacy theory, Gorski (2016) suggested that teachers must have the ability to recognize biases, inequities, and oppressive ideologies. The current study's participants contributed to this knowledge by describing the effects of policies on teacher and student identity. The participants discussed the differences between their teaching philosophies and their organization's practices. The teachers struggled to find their identities because they lacked the autonomy to provide what they perceived to be equitable instructional practices. The current study findings resemble those of Cho and Choi (2016), who found that teachers experience tensions between their professional teaching identities and personal identities outside of the occupation. Similarly, Hinnant-Crawford (2016) noted that teachers believed their personal actions did not influence educational policy and did not make a difference in their efforts beyond their classrooms. Several of the current study participants described being penalized on performance evaluations when implementing the instructional practices they perceived as necessary to counteract the systemic barriers to students.

Studies have shown that teachers lack preparation in addressing social and cultural diversity in the classroom (Ben-Peretz & Flores, 2018; Fine-Davis & Faas, 2014). Ben-Peretz and Flores (2018) found that teachers perceived that they had limited abilities to teach with social justice in mind. Similarly, Szelei et al. (2019) reported that

the misrepresentation of marginalized students occurred due to a lack of instructional practices that did not contribute to students' voices. The participants in this study presented several examples of integrating their students' voices into their instructional practices; however, they also described a persistent student identity struggle caused by a lack of resources and curricular materials for students to express themselves. The findings align with those of Ryoo et al. (2019), who indicated the importance of linking students' lives and classroom content.

The participants in this study also noted how standardized testing preparation presented obstacles to student identity. They described how organizationally mandated test preparation policies pose limitations to student expression and identity in the classroom. The participants stated that they felt pressured to teach for only tested standards due to their organizations' scopes and sequences. Similarly, Wasserberg (2018) found that an overemphasis on test preparation limited opportunities for engaging pedagogical skills. In addition, the participants expressed that standardized preparation policies required them to use curricular materials that were culturally irrelevant to their students' lives.

Experiences

In equity literacy theory, Gorski (2020) suggested that equity literate educators can respond to biases, inequities, and oppressive ideologies in the immediate term. The participants displayed a collective belief that teacher preparation programs and districtled professional development did not provide the facilitation and content knowledge needed to provide equitable opportunities for students living in poverty. The participants described how their life and teaching experiences enabled them to recognize the barriers faced by students living in high-poverty households and implement equitable instruction practices. The study findings indicate that teachers who grow up in similar socioeconomic backgrounds as their students can understand the barriers having adverse effects on students. The findings aligned with those of Whipp and Geronime (2017), who found that teachers with significant experience in high-poverty settings were strong predictors of retention and teaching commitment. However, in the current study, the participants raised in different social-economic backgrounds expressed that they considered their teaching experience as preparation for dealing with poverty barriers.

Unlike participants in the work of Brenner et al. (2016) and Brown and Crippen (2017), the teachers in the current study did not believe their professional development experiences contributed to their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices. However, the participants strove to learn how to implement equitable instructional practices, expressing a desire for more professional development in the area of equity. This finding aligned with research on the role of equity in teacher professional development and teacher preparation programs. Jez (2020) examined the role of equity in teacher professional between the theory used and the practices expected from teacher candidates in equitable instructional practices. Moreover, Mills et al. (2020) recommended that teacher preparation programs focus on instructional practices to support marginalized students.

Principles

Gorski (2014) defined equity for educators of students living in poverty and determined the 12 principles that equity literate educators use in their decision-making and classroom practices. The findings from the current study had several principles that aligned with Gorski's, such as the skills and knowledge the participants needed to actively cultivate equitable, antioppressive ideologies and institutional cultures. In the following subsections, I present the participants' principles of commitment, knowledge of students, and relationships.

Commitment. Lee et al. (2018) found that teachers in the United States defined equity as a "moral obligation." Several participants in the current study had the same definition as those in Lee et al.'s study. However, many of the participants defined their role in equitable instructional practices as a commitment to apply an equity lens to their instructional practices. Participants' commitment to equity aligned with the findings of Souto-Manning and Winn (2019), who suggested that teachers should commit to counteracting historical injustices that obstruct equity in schools. Ellis et al. (2019) recommended that teachers possess a shared commitment to transformative justice for historically oppressed students. Rojas and Liou (2018) suggested that teachers must reflect on the philosophies underpinning their student expectations to align their commitment to equity and social justice with their classroom pedagogies. Similarly, the participants described reflection as a tool for making their commitment evident in their daily classroom practices. Moreover, Lee et al. recommended that teachers conduct critical examinations of their equitable teaching strategies to better align their instructional practices with equity. The teachers in the current study believed that their commitment aligned with their abilities to counteract poverty barriers through their instructional practices.

Knowledge of Students. Like Gorski's (2016) equity literacy theory, the participants in the current study committed to developing an in-depth knowledge of students to understand the influence of poverty barriers on school engagement. More specifically, the participants perceived that their understanding of students' lives contributed to their ability to implement equitable instruction practices and high student achievement. This study's findings resembled those of Sibley et al. (2017), who found that teachers believed that learning about students' individual needs and strengths enabled them to better support students. Similarly, Shields et al. (2016) concluded that systematic, comprehensive supports for addressing out-of-school barriers to learning were means of increasing academic achievement in a high-poverty school. The teachers in this study described how they used their knowledge of students' lives in their decision-making and lesson planning.

According to Gorski's (2016) equity literacy theory, equity-literate educators prioritize the needs and interests of historically marginalized students. Naven et al. (2019) examined the influence of policies and practices on the participation of children living in poverty and found several barriers to such students' school experiences. According to Naven et al., understanding and listening to students who live in poverty provided educators with insight into the actions that enable all students to have equitable school experiences. However, Blitz et al. (2020) found that school personnel did not know the effects of systemic oppression on students living in high-poverty communities and how they could assist the barriers faced by students. Unlike the findings of Blitz et al., the participants in this study leveraged their knowledge of the barriers faced by students in poverty to counteract those challenges at school. The participants explicitly cited instances where they addressed home barriers, such as a lack of food at home, in the school environment. The participants also assisted working parents by offering free afterschool programs for students and developing job fairs for unemployed parents. Additionally, the teachers described how they used their knowledge of students' experiences at home in their approaches to equitable instruction. Intentionally building in-depth knowledge of students beyond test scores provided the participants with an entry point to a critical principle of equitable instruction.

Relationships. The participants also described the principle of positive relationship-building with students and their parents. Gorski (2016) defined the five abilities that educators need to become threats to inequity; however, the participants extended these abilities through the collective principle of their relationships with parents. The participants believed that equity could not occur if their students' parents did not trust the education system; this finding aligned with those of Sadiku and Sylaj (2019), who found trust between parents and teachers vital in building family-school relationships. Xuan et al. (2019) found that although positive student relationships were means of partially mediating the relationship between school SES and math, the effect was not significant. In contrast, in this study, relationship-building with parents and students contributed to teachers' abilities to implement equitable instructional practices.

Moreover, Kamrath and Bradford (2020) suggested that educators in high-poverty schools should pay attention to opportunities to build relationships with parents and students.

Limitations of the Study

As indicated in Chapter 1, several limitations affected the trustworthiness and transferability of this study. One limitation of this study was that data represented 10 participants from the southeast United States; therefore, the findings are not generalizable to other U.S. regions. Although 10 participants are an acceptable sample size for a basic qualitative study, there were limited diverse perspectives in the data. This was a study limited to teachers in high-poverty schools. The participant population did not include teachers of students living in poverty at schools, with many students not living in poverty. In addition, the number of participants limited the generalizability of the findings.

Another limitation was the unintentional bias that I could have brought to the study. My experience teaching in high-poverty schools could have created unintentional biases during the data analysis. I used several strategies to reduce bias. During the data analysis process, I conducted several rounds of coding through inductive coding and through the lens of Gorski's (2016) equity literacy theory to mitigate potential bias. After data collection and categorization, the participants validated my interpretations of their perceptions through member checking. I also used analytical memos and peer debriefing during data analysis to remove my personal bias when interpreting the results.

Recommendations

The study's limitations and strengths provided recommendations for future research. In this study, I explored teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. In this section, I present recommendations for future studies and organizational practices.

Recommendation 1: Organizational Examination of Practices and Policies

The results of the present study suggest that knowledge of practices and policies contributes to teachers' abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. The teachers in this study frequently described how they aligned organizational practices and policies with their teaching philosophies. Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework indicates that teachers should sustain bias-free, equitable institutional cultures by examining the programs and strategies that do not contribute to equity. In the present study, the participants perceived that their organizations' lack of equity literacy policies obstructed their abilities to implement equitable practices. Examining the organizational practices and policies that either obstruct or contribute to equity is a way to help students living in poverty.

Recommendation 2: Development of Professional Development of Equitable Instructional Practices

The participants believed the professional development they received was inadequate preparation for teaching students living in high poverty. They articulated their desire to become equity-literate educators through further professional development. This study's findings could contribute to the development of training for implementing equitable instruction practices. The findings also suggest the need to improve teacher preparation programs by adding research-based equitable instructional practices to higher education courses.

Recommendation 3: Development of an Organizational Vision for Equity

This study's findings suggest that the participants perceived their organizations as lacking equitable instructional visions for students living in poverty. The participants described their commitment to applying an equity lens to all their instructional and decision-making practices. Developing an organizational vision or framework for equity is a way to align classroom and school practices to contribute to student achievement. In addition, creating an equity literacy vision can contribute to the alignment between teachers' and districts' professional identities.

Recommendation 4: A Quantitative Study Measuring the Impact of Principles

The findings showed the equity-driven principles that participants perceived as having a positive effect on their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. Future scholars could research the impact of these principles on student outcomes with the quantitative method. A quantitative study on the effect of equitable principles on student outcomes could indicate the most impactful instructional practices for students living in poverty and contribute to the validity of this study's results.

Recommendation 5: Increase Transferability Through Replication of the Study

This study presented the perceptions of 10 teachers in the Southeastern United States. There are complex implications of poverty that vary by region. Replicating this study with more participants from other U.S. regions could result in increased credibility and transferability. The conceptual framework in this study was specific to the diversity of students living in poverty. Conducting this study in other regions with more participants could enable researchers to study diverse perspectives on the phenomenon.

Implications

The findings contributed to social change by presenting the equitable practices that teachers perceived as having a positive impact on the achievement of students living in high poverty. This study also filled a gap in the literature. Researchers have suggested that teachers' insights could contribute to the implementation of equitable instructional practices for students living in poverty (Riordan et al., 2019). The purpose of the present study was to explore teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty classrooms. The participants reflected on their abilities and provided insight into the practices and policies that obstructed or contributed to their ability to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. The findings presented detailed information about teachers' experiences with equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools.

This study addressed a gap in the literature, as research showed the need for studies on teachers' abilities to provide equitable instructional practices and their personal and professional variables (Nadelson et al., 2019). The findings presented the principles that the participants found critical for implementing equitable instructional practices. Data from this study could help with improving equitable opportunities for students living in poverty, as educators could include the principles into their pedagogies and classroom decision-making skills. The study could also contribute to the professional development of teachers in high-poverty schools. This study's recommendations include the importance of evaluating the organizational policies and practices that affect students living in poverty. The findings could provide school and organizational leaders with insight as they determine school practices and policies in high-poverty areas. This study contributed to positive social change for teacher workforce development. Further positive social change could result from focusing on equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools.

Conclusion

The persistent achievement gap between students living in high-poverty and lowpoverty households has been the focus of recent research. Despite policies, such as the ESSA (2015), for diminishing the impact of poverty on students, more work is needed. Studies have shown that equitable instructional practices and policies have a positive effect on students living in poverty. However, there was a gap in the literature on teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools.

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instructional practices in high-poverty schools. I conducted semistructured interviews with 10 teachers from high-poverty schools. The teachers perceived that in-depth knowledge of the barriers faced by students living in poverty contributed to their abilities to implement equitable practices. Further, the participants believed that organizational practices and policies obstructed their abilities to implement equitable practices. The participants described several principles they found critical for implementing equitable practices. Aligned with Gorski's (2020) equity literacy framework, the participants expressed their commitment to applying an equity lens to their pedagogies, practices, and process decisions.

The findings suggest the importance of supporting teachers' facilitation and content knowledge of equitable instructional practices. This study's participants identified the principles that contributed to their equitable instructional practices. However, there is a need for more research to effectively measure those principles.

References

- Acton, K. S. (2018). The tale of two urban school principals: Barriers, supports, and rewards. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, *64*(3), 302–317.
- Adler-Greene, L. (2019). Every Student Succeeds Act: Are schools making sure every student succeeds? *Touro Law Review*, *35*(1), Article 4.
- Alexander, K., & Morgan, S. L. (2016). The Coleman Report at fifty: Its legacy and implications for future research on equality of opportunity. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 2(5), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2016.2.5.01
- Allen, E. J., & FitzGerald, A. M. (2017). Cultural care and inviting practices: Teacher perspectives on the influence of care and equity in an urban elementary school. *Journal of Invitational Theory and Practice*, 23, 5–26.

American Educational Research Association. (2019). Home page. https://www.aera.net/

- Andersen, I. G., & Andersen, S. C. (2015). Student-centered instruction and academic achievement: Linking mechanisms of educational inequality to schools' instructional strategy. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 38(4), 533–550. https://doi.org/10.1080/01425692.2015.1093409
- Andrews, D. J. C., Richmond, G., & Stroupe, D. (2017). Teacher education and teaching in the present political landscape. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 68(2), 121–124. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487117691243
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L. C., Sorensen, C. K., & Walker, D. A. (2019). Introduction to research in education. Cengage.

Attendance Works. (2017). Attendance counts [Issue brief].

http://www.attendanceworks.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/AttendNCe-Counts-2017.pdf

- Aucejo, E. M., & Romano, T. F. (2016). Assessing the effect of school days and absences on test score performance. *Economics of Education Review*, 55, 70–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2016.08.007
- Aydin, H., Ozfidan, B., & Carothers, D. (2017). Meeting the challenges of curriculum and instruction in school settings in the United States. *Journal of Social Studies Education Research*, 8(3), 76–92.
- Baker, B., & Green, P. (2008). Conceptions of equity and adequacy in school finance. In
 H. F. Ladd & E. B. Fiske (Eds.), *Handbook of research in education finance and policy* (pp. 203–221). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203961063.ch12
- Baker, B., & Weber, M. (2016). Beyond the echo-chamber: State investments and student outcomes in U.S. elementary and secondary education. *Journal of Education Finance*, 42(1), 1–27.
- Baker-Doyle, K. J., Hunt, M., & Whitfield, L. C. (2018). Learning to fall forward: A study of teacher courage, equity, and freedom in the connected learning classroom. *International Journal of Information and Learning Technology*, 35(5), 310–328. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijilt-05-2018-0053
- Bamberger, M., Rugh, J., & Mabry, L. (2012). RealWorld evaluation: Working under budget, time, data, and political constraints (2nd ed.). SAGE Publications.

- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.84.2.191
- Banks, J. (2004). Multicultural education: Characteristics and goals. In J. Banks & C.
 Banks (Eds.), *Multicultural education: Issues and perspectives* (pp. 3–30).
 Jossey-Bass.
- Bartanen, B. (2020). Principal quality and student attendance. *Educational Researcher*, 49(2), 101–113. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x19898702
- Bassok, D., Finch, J. E., Lee, R., Reardon, S. F., & Waldfogel, J. (2016). Socioeconomic gaps in early childhood experiences. *AERA Open*, 2(3), Article 233285841665392. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858416653924
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 13(4), 554–559.
- Bellibas, M. S. (2016). Who are the most disadvantaged? Factors associated with the achievement of students with low socioeconomic backgrounds. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice, 16*(2), 691–710.

https://doi.org/10.12738/estp.2016.2.0257

- Ben-Peretz, M., & Flores, M. A. (2018). Tensions and paradoxes in teaching: implications for teacher education. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 41(2), 202–213. https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2018.1431216
- Berliner, D. (2013). Effects of inequality and poverty vs. teachers and schools on America's youth. *Teachers College Record*, *115*(12), 1–26.

Berliner, D. C. (2017). Poverty's powerful effects on reading achievement and the achievement gap. In R. Horowitz & S. J. Samuels (Eds.), *The achievement gap in reading: Complex causes, persistent issues, possible solutions* (pp. 23–37).
Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315779522-3

Bernal, P., Mittag, N., & Qureshi, J. A. (2016). Estimating effects of school quality using multiple proxies. *Labour Economics*, 39, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2016.01.005

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Black, M. M., Walker, S. P., Fernald, L. C., Andersen, C. T., DiGirolamo, A. M., Lu, C., McCoy, D. C., Fink, G., Shawar, Y. R., Shiffman, J., Devercelli, A. E., Wodon, Q. T., Vargas-Barón, E., & Grantham-McGregor, S. (2017). Early childhood development coming of age: Science through the life course. *The Lancet*, 389(10064), 77–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(16)31389-7
- Blitz, L. V., Anderson, E. M., & Saastamoinen, M. (2016). Assessing perceptions of culture and trauma in an elementary school: Informing a model for culturally responsive trauma-informed schools. *The Urban Review*, 48(4), 520–542. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-016-0366-9

Blitz, L. V., Yull, D., & Clauhs, M. (2020). Bringing sanctuary to school: Assessing school climate as a foundation for culturally responsive trauma-informed approaches for urban schools. *Urban Education*, 55(1), 95–124. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916651323

Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss: Vol. 1: Attachment. Howgarth Press.

- Brenner, M. E., Bianchini, J. A., & Dwyer, H. A. (2016). Science and mathematics teachers working toward equity through teacher research: Tracing changes across their research process and equity views. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 27(8), 819–845. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10972-016-9490-3
- Brown, J. C., & Crippen, K. J. (2017). The knowledge and practices of high school science teachers in pursuit of cultural responsiveness. *Science Education*, 101(1), 99–133. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.2017.101.issue-1
- Burke, P., & Whitty, G. (2018). Equity issues in teaching and teacher education. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 93(3), 272–284. https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956x.2018.1449800
- Calzada, E., Barajas-Gonzalez, R. G., Dawson-Mcclure, S., Huang, K.-Y., Palamar, J.,
 Kamboukos, D., & Brotman, L. M. (2015). Early academic achievement among
 American low-income Black students from immigrant and non-immigrant
 families. *Prevention Science*, *16*(8), 1159–1168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121015-0570-y

- Cannon, J., Kilburn, M., Karoly, L., Mattox, T., Muchow, A., & Buenaventura, M. (2017). Investing early: Taking stock of outcomes and economic returns from early childhood programs. *Rand Health Quarterly*, 7(4), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.7249/rr1993
- Carnoy, M., Ngware, M., & Oketch, M. (2015). The role of classroom resources and national educational context in student learning gains: Comparing Botswana, Kenya, and South Africa. *Comparative Education Review*, 59(2), 199–233. https://doi.org/10.1086/680173
- Caucutt, E., Lochner, L., & Park, Y. (2015). Correlation, consumption, confusion, or constraints: Why do poor children perform so poorly? *The Scandinavian Journal* of Economics, 119(1), 102–147. https://doi.org/10.3386/w2102
- Cedeño, L. F., Martínez-Arias, R., & Bueno, J. A. (2016). Implications of socioeconomic status on academic competence: A perspective for teachers. *International Education Studies*, 9(4), 257–267. https://doi.org/10.5539/ies.v9n4p257
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). Home page. https://www.cdc.gov/
- Charalambous, E., Kyriakides, L., & Creemers, B. P. (2018). Promoting quality and equity in socially disadvantaged schools: A group-randomization study. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 57, 42–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2016.06.001

- Chiu, M. M., & Chow, B. W.-Y. (2015). Classmate characteristics and student achievement in 33 countries: Classmates' past achievement, family socioeconomic status, educational resources, and attitudes toward reading. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *107*(1), 152–169. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036897
- Chmielewski, A. (2019). The global increase in the socioeconomic achievement gap, 1964–2015. *American Sociological Review*, 84(3), 517–544. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122419847165
- Chmielewski, A. K., & Reardon, S. F. (2016). Patterns of cross-national variation in the association between income and academic achievement. *AERA Open*, 2(3), Article 233285841664959. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858416649593
- Cho, H., & Choi, J. (2016). Teaching for social justice: Voices from prospective South Korean elementary teachers. *KEDI Journal of Educational Policy*, *13*(2), 259– 282.
- Chu, Y. (2019). What are they talking about when they talk about equity? A content analysis of equity principles and provisions in state Every Student Succeeds Act plans. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 27(158). https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.27.4558
- Chung, K. K. H., Liu, H., Mcbride, C., Wong, A. M.-Y., & Lo, J. C. M. (2016). How socioeconomic status, executive functioning, and verbal interactions contribute to early academic achievement in Chinese children. *Educational Psychology*, *37*(4), 402–420. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2016.1179264

Coburn, C. E., & Penuel, W. R. (2016). Research-practice partnerships in education. *Educational Researcher*, 45(1), 48–54.

https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x16631750

- Cochran-Smith, M., Keefe, E. S., & Carney, M. C. (2018). Teacher educators as reformers: Competing agendas. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 41(5), 572–590. https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2018.1523391
- Coleman, J. (1973). Equality of opportunity and equality of results. *Harvard Educational Review*, 43(1), 129–137. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.43.1.716113468m326067
- Comber, B. (2016). Poverty, place and pedagogy in education: Research stories from front-line workers. *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 43(4), 393–417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13384-016-0212-9
- Cook, P. J., Dodge, K. A., Gifford, E. J., & Schulting, A. B. (2017). A new program to prevent primary school absenteeism: Results of a pilot study in five schools. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 82, 262–270.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.09.017
- Cramer, E., Little, M. E., & McHatton, P. A. (2017). Equity, equality, and standardization: Expanding the conversations. *Education and Urban Society*, 50(5), 483–501. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124517713249
- Crawford, C., Macmillan, L., & Vignoles, A. (2016). When and why do initially highachieving poor children fall behind? *Oxford Review of Education*, *43*(1), 88–108. https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2016.1240672

- Creswell, J. W., & Clark, V. P. (2018). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approach.* SAGE Publications.
- Curran, F. C. (2016). Estimating the effect of state zero tolerance laws on exclusionary discipline, racial discipline gaps, and student behavior. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *38*(4), 647–668. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373716652728
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigor. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), Article e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- DeMatthews, D. (2018). Social justice dilemmas: Evidence on the successes and shortcomings of three principals trying to make a difference. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 21, 545–559. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2016.1206972
- Dimosthenous, A., Kyriakides, L., & Panayiotou, A. (2020). Short- and long-term effects of the home learning environment and teachers on student achievement in mathematics: A longitudinal study. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, *31*(1), 50–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2019.1642212
- Dlamini, P., & Sheik, A. (2019). Exploring teachers' instructional practices for literacy in English in Grade 1: A case study of two urban primary schools in the Shiselweni region of Eswatini (Swaziland). *Reading & Writing*, *10*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.4102/rw.v10i1.229

- Downey, D. B., & Condron, D. J. (2017). Fifty years since the Coleman Report:
 Rethinking the relationship between schools and inequality. In A. R. Sadovnik, P.
 W. Cookson, S. F. Semel, & R. W. Coughlan (Eds.), *Exploring education* (pp. 351–364). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315408545-23
- Duneier, M., Kasinitz, P., & Murphy, A. (2014). *Urban ethnography reader*. Oxford University Press.
- Durham, R. E., Shiller, J., & Connolly, F. (2019). Student attendance: A persistent challenge and leading indicator for Baltimore's community school strategy. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk (JESPAR)*, 24(3), 218–243. https://doi.org/10.1080/10824669.2019.1615922
- Dyches, J., & Boyd, A. (2017). Foregrounding equity in teacher education: Toward a model of social justice pedagogical and content knowledge. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 68(5), 476–490. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487117705097
- Egalite, A. J., & Kisida, B. (2017). The effects of teacher match on students' academic perceptions and attitudes. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 40(1), 59–81. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373717714056
- Ellis, V., Souto-Manning, M., & Turvey, K. (2019). Innovation in teacher education: Towards a critical re-examination. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 45(1), 2– 14. https://doi.org/10.1080/02607476.2019.1550602

Engel, M., Claessens, A., Watts, T., & Stone, S. (2016). Socioeconomic inequality at school entry: A cross-cohort comparison of families and schools. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 71, 227–232.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.10.036

Evans, D. K., & Popova, A. (2015, February). What really works to improve learning in developing countries? An analysis of divergent findings in systematic reviews
[Policy research working paper]. World Bank Group. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-7203

- Fine-Davis, M., & Faas, D. (2014). Equality and diversity in the classroom: A comparison of students' and teachers' attitudes in six European countries. *Social Indicators Research*, *119*(3), 1319–1334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-013-0547-9
- Fonagy, P., & Allison, E. (2014). The role of mentalizing and epistemic trust in the therapeutic relationship. *Psychotherapy*, 51(3), 372–380. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036505
- Fuller, E. J., Hollingworth, L., & Pendola, A. (2017). The Every Student Succeeds Act, state efforts to improve access to effective educators, and the importance of school leadership. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 53(5), 727–756. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161x17711481
- García, E., & Weiss, E. (2017, September 27). Reducing and averting achievement gaps:
 Key findings from the report "Education Inequalities at the School Starting Gate"
 and comprehensive to mitigate early skills gaps. Economic Policy Institute.

- Garner, B., Thorne, J. K., & Horn, I. S. (2017). Teachers interpreting data for instructional decisions: Where does equity come in? *Journal of Educational Administration*, 55(4), 407–426. https://doi.org/10.1108/jea-09-2016-0106
- Gerritsen, S., Plug, E., & Webbink, D. (2016). Teacher quality and student achievement:
 Evidence from a sample of Dutch twins. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, *32*(3), 643–660. https://doi.org/10.1002/jae.2539
- Gershenson, S. (2016). Linking teacher quality, student attendance, and student achievement. *Education Finance and Policy*, 11(2), 125–149. https://doi.org/10.1162/edfp_a_00180
- Gibson, C. (2016). Bridging English language learner achievement gaps through effective vocabulary development strategies. *English Language Teaching*, 9(9), 134–138. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v9n9p134
- Goldhaber, D., Lavery, L., & Theobald, R. (2015). Uneven playing field? Assessing the teacher quality gap between advantaged and disadvantaged students. *Educational Researcher*, 44(5), 293–307. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x15592622
- Goldhaber, D., Strunk, K. O., Brown, N., & Knight, D. S. (2016). Lessons learned from the Great Recession. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 38(3), 517– 548. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373716647917

Gorski, P. S. (2020). Equity literacy: Definition and abilities. Equity Literacy Institute.

Gorski, P. S. (2014). Reaching and teaching students in poverty: Strategies for erasing the opportunity gap. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 108(1), 78–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2014.981068

- Gorski, P. S. (2016). Rethinking the role of "culture" in educational equity: From cultural competence to equity literacy. *Multicultural Perspectives*, 18(4), 221–226. https://doi.org/10.1080/15210960.2016.1228344
- Gorski, P. C., & Swalwell, K. (2015). Equity literacy for all. *Educational Leadership*, 72(6), 34–40.
- Grudnoff, L., Haigh, M., Hill, M., Cochran-Smith, M., Ell, F., & Ludlow, L. (2015). *Practice for equity: Insights from international evidence* [Paper presentation].
 Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, IL, United States.
- Hanushek, E., Peterson, P., Talpey, L., & Woessmann, L. (2019). *The unwavering SES achievement gap: Trends in U.S. student performance* (Working Paper 25648).
 National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w25648
- Hanushek, E., Rivkin, S., & Schiman, J. (2016). Dynamic effects of teacher turnover on the quality of instruction. *Economics of Education Review*, 55, 132–148. https://doi.org/10.3386/w22472
- Hardcastle, K., Bellis, M., Ford, K., Hughes, K., Garner, J., & Rodriguez, G. R. (2018).
 Measuring the relationships between adverse childhood experiences and educational and employment success in England and Wales: Findings from a retrospective study. *Public Health*, 165, 106–116.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2018.09.014

- Harlow, E. (2019). Attachment theory: Developments, debates, and recent applications in social work, social care, and education. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 35(1), 79–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650533.2019.1700493
- Heckman, J. J. (2018). Skill formation and the economics of investing in disadvantaged children. In D. B. Grusky & J. Hill (Eds.), *Inequality in the 21st century* (1st ed., pp. 460–463). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429499821-78
- Henry, D. A., Betancur Cortés, L., & Votruba-Drzal, E. (2020). Black–White achievement gaps differ by family socioeconomic status from early childhood through early adolescence. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *112*(8), 1471– 1489. https://doi.org10.1037/edu0000439
- Hill, M. F., Ell, F., Grudnoff, L., Haigh, M., Cochran-Smith, M., Chang, W.-C., & Ludlow, L. (2019). Assessment for equity: Learning how to use evidence to scaffold learning and improve teaching. In S. Johnson & C. DeLuca (Eds.), *Developing teachers' assessment capacity* (pp. 65–84). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351029100-5
- Hindman, A. H., Wasik, B. A., & Snell, E. K. (2016). Closing the 30 million word gap: Next steps in designing research to inform practice. *Child Development Perspectives*, 10(2), 134–139. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12177
- Hinnant-Crawford, B. (2016). Education policy influence efficacy: Teacher beliefs in their ability to change education policy. *International Journal of Teacher Leadership*, 7(2), 1–27.

- Hirn, R. G., Hollo, A., & Scott, T. M. (2017). Exploring instructional differences and school performance in high-poverty elementary schools. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 62(1), 37–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988x.2017.1329197
- Horn, I. S., Garner, B., Kane, B. D., & Brasel, J. (2016). A taxonomy of instructional learning opportunities in teachers' workgroup conversations. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 68(1), 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487116676315
- Huizen, T. V., & Plantenga, J. (2018). Do children benefit from universal early childhood education and care? A meta-analysis of evidence from natural experiments. *Economics of Education Review*, 66, 206–222.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2018.08.001
- Hwang, J., Choi, K. M., Bae, Y., & Shin, D. H. (2018). Do teachers' instructional practices moderate equity in mathematical and scientific literacy? An investigation of the PISA 2012 and 2015. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 16, 25–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-018-9909-8
- Infurna, C. J., Riter, D., & Schultz, S. (2018). Factors that determine preschool teacher self-efficacy in an urban school district. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 11(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.26822/iejee.2018143929
- Isenberg, E., Teh, B.-R., & Walsh, E. (2015). Elementary school data issues for valueadded models: Implications for research. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 8(1), 120–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2014.974231

- Jackson, C. K., Johnson, R., & Persico, C. (2015). The effects of school spending on educational and economic outcomes: Evidence from school finance reforms. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 131(1), 157–218. https://doi.org/10.3386/w20847
- Jez, R. J. (2020). Examining equitable practices within teacher preparation. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 47(4), 100–106.
- Jones, K. (2018). Teaching for equity inside and outside the English classroom. *English Journal*, (2), 105.
- Kainz, K. (2019). Early academic gaps and Title I programming in high poverty, high minority schools. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 47, 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2018.08.012
- Kamrath, B., & Bradford, K. R. (2020). A case study of teacher turnover and retention in an urban elementary school. *Educational Considerations*, 45(3), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.4148/0146-9282.2181
- Kantor, H., & Lowe, R. (2017). Introduction: What difference did the Coleman Report make? *History of Education Quarterly*, 57(4), 570–578. https://doi.org/10.1017/heq.2017.32
- Karimova, L., Biktagirova, G. F., & Ismagilova, L. R. (2020). Developing self-efficacy of future EFL teachers. ARPHA Proceedings, 3, 919–933. https://doi.org/10.3897/ap.2.e0919

- Kavanagh, S. S., & Danielson, K. A. (2019). Practicing justice, justifying practice:
 Toward critical practice teacher education. *American Educational Research Journal*, 57(1), 69–105. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831219848691
- Kennedy, D. M. (2016). Is it any clearer? Generic qualitative inquiry and the VSAIEEDC model of data analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(8), 1369–1379. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss8/1/
- Knight, D. S. (2017). Are high-poverty school districts disproportionately impacted by state funding cuts? School finance equity following the Great Recession. *Journal* of Education Finance, 43(2), 169–194.
- Koball, H., & Jiang, J. (2020). Basic facts about low-income children. National Center for Children in Poverty. https://www.nccp.org/publications/pdf/text_1195.pdf
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),
 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kuhfeld, M., Gershoff, E., & Paschall, K. (2018). The development of racial/ethnic and socioeconomic achievement gaps during the school years. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 57, 62–73.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2018.07.001

Kyriakides, L., Anthimou, M., & Panayiotou, A. (2020). Searching for the impact of teacher behavior on promoting students' cognitive and metacognitive skills. *Studies in Educational Evaluation, 64*, Article 100810.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2019.100810

Ladson-Billings, G. (2006). It's not the culture of poverty, it's the poverty of culture: The problem with teacher education. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, *37*(2), 104–109. https://doi.org/10.1525/aeq.2006.37.2.104

Ladson-Billings, G. (2014). Culturally relevant pedagogy 2.0: Aka the remix. *Harvard Educational Review*, 84(1), 74–84. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.84.1.p2rj131485484751

- Lampert, J., Ball, A., Garcia-Carrion, R., & Burnett, B. (2020). Poverty and schooling: Three cases from Australia. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 48(1), 60–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359866X.2019.1602863
- Lawson, M. (2015). Paul Gorski: Reaching and teaching students in poverty: Strategies for erasing the opportunity gap. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 44(11), 2189– 2192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-015-0359-0
- Lee, J.-E., Kim, J., Kim, S., & Lim, W. (2018). How to envision equitable mathematics instruction: Views of U.S. and Korean preservice teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 69, 275–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.10.010
- Lee, P., & Bierman, K. (2015). Classroom and teacher support in kindergarten: Associations with the behavioral and academic adjustment of low-income students. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 61(3), 383–411. https://doi.org/10.13110/merrpalmquar1982.61.3.0383
- Lekwa, A. J., Reddy, L. A., Dudek, C. M., & Hua, A. N. (2019). Assessment of teaching to predict gains in student achievement in urban schools. *School Psychology*, 34(3), 271–280. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000293

Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, 16(4), 473–475. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839915580941

Lipman, P. (2016). Neoliberal urbanism, race, and equity in mathematics education. *Journal of Urban Mathematics Education*, 5(2), 6–17. https://journals.tdl.org/jume/index.php/JUME/article/download/191/116/

- Litz, D., & Scott, S. (2016). Transformational leadership in the educational system of the United Arab Emirates. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 45(4), 566–587. https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143216636112
- Louisiana Department of Education. (2019). *Louisiana believes*. https://www.louisianabelieves.com
- Mahatmya, D., Lohman, B. J., Brown, E. L., & Conway-Turner, J. (2016). The role of race and teachers' cultural awareness in predicting low-income, Black and Hispanic students' perceptions of educational attainment. *Social Psychology of Education*, 19(2), 427–449. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-016-9334-1
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1753–1760. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444
- McFarland, J., Hussar, B., De Brey, C., Snyder, T., Wang, X., Wilkinson-Flicker, S.,
 Gebrekristos, S., Zhang, J., Rathbun, A., Barmer, A., Bullock Mann, F., & Hinz,
 S. (2017). *The condition of education 2017* (NCES 2017-144). National Center
 for Education Statistics.

- Mcgrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2018). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159x.2018.1497149
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (3rd ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2017). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Micalizzi, L., Brick, L. A., Flom, M., Ganiban, J. M., & Saudino, K. J. (2019). Effects of socioeconomic status and executive function on school readiness across levels of household chaos. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 47, 331–340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2019.01.007
- Michelmore, K., & Dynarski, S. (2017). The gap within the gap: Using longitudinal data to understand income differences in student achievement. *AERA Open*, 3(1), Article 2332858417692958. https://doi.org/10.3386/w22474
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldaña, J. (2014). Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook. SAGE Publications.
- Mills, T., Villegas, A. M., & Cochran-Smith, M. (2020). Research on preparing preservice mainstream teachers for linguistically diverse classrooms. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 47(4), 33–55.
- Mintrop, H., & Zane, R. (2017). When the achievement gap becomes high stakes for special education teachers: Facing a dilemma with integrity. *Teachers College Record*, 119(9), 1–39.

- Morrissey, T. W., & Vinopal, K. (2018). Center-based early care and education and children's school readiness: Do impacts vary by neighborhood poverty?
 Developmental Psychology, 54(4), 757–771. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000470
- Nadelson, L. S., Miller, R. G., Hu, H., Bang, N. M., & Walthall, B. (2019). Is equity on their mind? Documenting teachers' education equity mindset. *World Journal of Education*, 9(5), 26–40. https://doi.org/10.5430/wje.v9n5p26
- National Center for Educational Statistics. (2017). *School composition and the Black-White achievement gap.* https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/subject/studies/pdf/school_composition_and_the_bw_achievement_gap_2015.pdf
- National Center for Educational Statistics. (2019). *National student group scores and score gaps*. https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/highlights/reading/2019/
- Naven, L., Egan, J., Sosu, E. M., & Spencer, S. (2019). The influence of poverty on children's school experiences: Pupils' perspectives. *Journal of Poverty and Social Justice*, 27(3), 313–331. https://doi.org/10.1332/175982719X15622547838659
- Nicotera, A. (2019). Social justice and social work, a fierce urgency: Recommendations for social work social justice pedagogy. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 55(3), 460–475. https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2019.1600443
- NVivo Version 12. (2021). *NVivo qualitative data analysis software* [Computer software]. QSR International.

- Okhremtchouk, I. S., & Jimenez-Castellanos, O. (2018). The Obama Administration
 American Recovery and Reinvestment Act and local school board politics. *Journal of Cases in Educational Leadership*, 21(4), 67–85.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1555458918762259
- Olsen, A., & Huang, F. (2019). Teacher job satisfaction by principal support and teacher cooperation: Results from the Schools and Staffing Survey. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 27(11), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.27.4174
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2016). *Education at a* glance 2016 – indicators. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/education-at-aglance-2016_eag-2016-en
- Owens, A. (2017). Income segregation between school districts and inequality in students' achievement. *Sociology of Education*, 91(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038040717741180
- Owens, A., Reardon, S. F., & Jencks, C. (2016). Income segregation between schools and school districts. *American Educational Research Journal*, 53(4), 1159–1197. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831216652722
- Pan, Q., Trang, K. T., Love, H. R., & Templin, J. (2019). School readiness profiles and growth in academic achievement. *Frontiers in Education*, *4*, 127. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2019.00127
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice.* SAGE Publications.

- Paul, C. A. (2016). Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 [Entire issue]. Social Welfare History Project. https://socialwelfare.library.vcu.edu/ programs/education/elementary-and-secondaryeducation-act-of-1965/
- Penuel, W., Meyer, E., Valladares, M. R., & University of Colorado at Boulder, N. E. P.
 C. (2016). Making the most of the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA): Helping states focus on school equity, quality and climate. National Education Policy Center. https://nepc.colorado.edu/publication/ESSA
- Perera, H. N., & John, J. E. (2020). Teachers' self-efficacy beliefs for teaching math:
 Relations with teacher and student outcomes. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *61*, Article 101842. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101842
- Perry, D. L., & Daniels, M. L. (2016). Implementing trauma-informed practices in the school setting: A pilot study. *School Mental Health*, 8(1), 177–188. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-016-9182-3
- Podolsky, A., Kini, T., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2019). Does teaching experience increase teacher effectiveness? A review of US research. *Journal of Professional Capital and Community*, 4(4), 286–308. https://doi.org/10.1108/jpcc-12-2018-0032
- Proctor, S. (2017). Strategies to improve job satisfaction and reduce voluntary turnover of nurses (Publication No. 10623184) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University].
 ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.

- Quinlan, D., Vella-Brodrick, D. A., Gray, A., & Swain, N. (2018). Teachers matter: Student outcomes following a strengths intervention are mediated by teacher strengths spotting. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 20(8), 2507–2523. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-018-0051-7
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* SAGE Publications.
- Rea, D. W., & Zinskie, C. D. (2017). Educating students in poverty: Building equity and capacity with a holistic framework and community school model. *National Youth-At-Risk Journal*, 2(2), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.20429/nyarj.2017.020201
- Reardon, S. F., & Portilla, X. A. (2016). Recent trends in income, racial, and ethnic school readiness gaps at kindergarten entry. *AERA Open*, 2(3), Article 233285841665734. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858416657343
- Reardon, S. F., Fahle, E. M., Kalogrides, D., Podolsky, A., & Zárate, R. C. (2019).
 Gender achievement gaps in U.S. school districts. *American Educational Research Journal*, 56(6), 2474–2508. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831219843824
- Reardon, S. F., Robinson-Cimpian, J. P., & Weathers, E. S. (2015). Patterns and trends in racial/ethnic and socioeconomic academic achievement gaps. In H. Ladd & M.
 Goertz (Eds.), *Handbook of research in education finance and policy* (2nd ed., pp. 491–509). Erlbaum.
- Reynolds, A. J., Ou, S.-R., Mondi, C. F., & Giovanelli, A. (2019). Reducing poverty and inequality through preschool-to-third-grade prevention services. *American Psychologist*, 74(6), 653–672. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000537

- Riordan, M., Klein, E. J., & Gaynor, C. (2019). Teaching for equity and deeper learning: How does professional learning transfer to teachers' practice and influence students' experiences? *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 52(2–3), 327–345. https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2019.1647808
- Rogers, K. R., Maxwell, D., & Robinson, S. R. (2018). Influences of academic success among low-income minority students: A qualitative interpretive meta-synthesis of student, educator, and parent experiences. *School Social Work Journal*, 43(1), 38– 59.
- Rojas, L., & Liou, D. D. (2018). Teaching for social justice: The promise of transformative expectations for Urban Chicanx/Latinx youth. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 51(2), 161–181. https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2018.1509747
- Rosen, M. L., Sheridan, M. A., Sambrook, K. A., Meltzoff, A. N., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2018, February 25). Socioeconomic disparities in academic achievement: A multi-modal investigation of neural mechanisms in children and adolescents. *NeuroImage*, *173*, 298–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.02.043
- Rubel, L. H. (2017). Equity-directed instructional practices: Beyond the dominant perspective. *Journal of Urban Mathematics Education*, 10(2), 66–105. https://doi.org/10.21423/jume-v10i2a324
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications.

- Ryoo, J. J., Margolis, J., Estrada, C., Tanksley, T. C., Guest-Johnson, D., & Mendoza, S. (2019, February 27). *Student voices: Equity, identity, and agency in CS classrooms* [Paper presentation]. 2019 Research on Equity and Sustained Participation in Engineering, Computing, and Technology (RESPECT). Minneapolis, MN, United States. https://doi.org/10.1109/respect46404.2019.8985947
- Sadiku, G. S., & Sylaj, V. (2019). Factors that influence the level of the academic performance of the students. *Journal of Social Studies Education Research*, 10(3), 17–38.

Saldaña, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. SAGE Publications.

- Sandoval, C., Jr., van Es, E. A., Campbell, S. L., & Santagata, R. (2020). Creating coherence in teacher preparation: Examining teacher candidates' conceptualizations and practices for equity. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 47(4), 8–32.
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893–1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Scholes, L., Lampert, J., Burnett, B., Comber, B., Hoff, L., & Ferguson, A. (2017). The politics of quality teacher discourses: Implications for pre-service teachers in high poverty schools. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 42(4), 19–43. https://doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2017v42n4.3

- Schwartz, K., Cappella, E., & Aber, J. L. (2019). Teachers' lives in context: A framework for understanding barriers to high-quality teaching within resource deprived settings. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, *12*(1), 160–190. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2018.1502385
- Semuels, A. (2016, August 25). Good school, rich school; Bad school, poor school. *The Atlantic*.
- Shenton, A. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63–75. https://doi.org/10.3233/efi-2004-22201
- Shields, K. A., Walsh, M. E., & Lee-St John, T. J. (2016). The relationship of a systemic student support intervention to academic achievement in urban Catholic schools. *Journal of Catholic Education*, 19(3), 116–141. https://doi.org/10.15365/joce.1903072016
- Shing, S., & Yuan, B. (2017). Mobile technology bridges the 30 million word gap. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 8(9), 64–72.
- Sibley, E., Theodorakakis, M., Walsh, M. E., Foley, C., Petrie, J., & Raczek, A. (2017). The impact of comprehensive student support on teachers: Knowledge of the whole child, classroom practice, and teacher support. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 65, 145–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.02.012

- Skousen, J. D., & Domangue, E. (2020). Leadership for social justice in high-poverty schools: Exploration of equity and fundraising in an urban-suburban school. *Journal of Cases in Educational Leadership*, 23(1), 93–110. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555458919883320
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. H. (2013). Interpretative phenomenological analysis: Theory, method, and research. SAGE Publications.
- Smith, M., Cameron, C., & Reimer, D. (2017). From attachment to recognition for children in care. *British Journal of Social Work*, 47(6), 1606–1623. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcx096
- Snow, C. E. (2017). The role of vocabulary versus knowledge in children's language learning: A fifty-year perspective. *Infancia y Aprendizaje*, 40(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/02103702.2016.1263449
- Souto-Manning, M., & Winn, L. T. (2019). Toward shared commitments for teacher education: Transformative justice as an ethical imperative. *Theory Into Practice*, 58(4), 308–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2019.1626619
- Springer, M. G., Swain, W. A., & Rodriguez, L. A. (2016). Effective teacher retention bonuses. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 38(2), 199–221. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373715609687

Steele, J. L., Pepper, M. J., Springer, M. G., & Lockwood, J. (2015). The distribution and mobility of effective teachers: Evidence from a large, urban school district. *Economics of Education Review*, 48, 86–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2015.05.009 Stosich, E. L. (2016). Building teacher and school capacity to teach to ambitious standards in high-poverty schools. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 58, 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.04.010

Sun, J., & Leithwood, K. (2015). Direction-setting school leadership practices: A metaanalytical review of evidence about their influence. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 26(4), 499–523.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2015.1005106

- Sun, J., & Leithwood, K. (2017). Calculating the power of alternative choices by school leaders for improving student achievement. *School Leadership & Management*, 37(2), 80–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2017.1293635
- Swain, W. A., Rodriguez, L. A., & Springer, M. G. (2019). Selective retention bonuses for highly effective teachers in high poverty schools: Evidence from Tennessee. *Economics of Education Review*, 68, 148–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2018.12.008

Swalwell, K. (2011, December 21). Why our students need "equity literacy." *Teaching Tolerance*. https://www.tolerance.org/blog/why-ourstudents-need-equity-literacy

Szelei, N., Tinoca, L., & Pinho, A. S. (2019). Rethinking 'cultural activities': An examination of how teachers utilized student voice as a pedagogical tool in multicultural schools. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 79, 176–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.12.020

- Tan, C. Y. (2016). Examining school leadership effects on student achievement: the role of contextual challenges and constraints. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 48(1), 21–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/0305764x.2016.1221885
- Tan, P., & Thorius, K. K. (2018). Toward equity in mathematics education for students with dis/abilities: A case study of professional learning. *American Educational Research Journal*, 56(3), 995–1032. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831218811906
- Thompson, D. L., & Thompson, S. (2018). Educational equity and quality in K-12 schools: Meeting the needs of all students. *Journal for the Advancement of Educational Research International*, 12(1), 34–46.
- Thorne, S. (2016). *Interpretive description: Qualitative research for applied practice* (Vol. 2). Routledge.
- Tichnor-Wagner, A., Garwood, J. D., Bratsch-Hines, M., & Vernon-Feagans, L. (2015).
 Home literacy environments and foundational literacy skills for struggling and nonstruggling readers in rural early elementary schools. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, *31*(1), 6–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/ldrp.12090
- U.S. Department of Education. (2015). *No Child Left Behind*. http://www2.ed.gov/nclb/landing.jhtml
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological* processes. Harvard University Press.
- Wager, A. A. (2014). Noticing children's participation: Insights into teacher positionality toward equitable mathematics pedagogy. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 45(3), 312–350. https://doi.org/10.5951/jresematheduc.45.3.0312

- Wasserberg, M. J. (2018). "We're just scanning through to find the answers": African American elementary student voice in a test-centered school environment. *The Elementary School Journal*, 119(2), 179–195.
- Whipp, J. L., & Geronime, L. (2017). Experiences that predict early career teacher commitment to and retention in high-poverty urban schools. *Urban Education*, 52(7), 799–828. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085915574531
- Whipple, S. S., Genero, K. K., & Evans, G. W. (2016). Task persistence: A potential mediator of the income-achievement gap. *Journal of Applied Research on Children, 7*(1), Article 4.
- Xuan, X., Xue, Y., Zhang, C., Luo, Y., Jiang, W., Qi, M., & Wang, Y. (2019).
 Relationship among school socioeconomic status, teacher-student relationship, and middle school students' academic achievement in China: Using the multilevel mediation model. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(3), Article e0213783.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213783
- Yin, R. K. (2016). *Qualitative research from start to finish*. The Guilford Press.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and application: Design and methods*. SAGE Publications.
- Yoshikawa, H., Wuermli, A. J., Raikes, A., Kim, S., & Kabay, S. B. (2018). Toward high-quality early childhood development programs and policies at national scale: Directions for research in global contexts. *Social Policy Report*, *31*(1), 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2379-3988.2018.tb00091.x

- Zhao, Y. (2016). From deficiency to strength: Shifting the mindset about education inequality. *Journal of Social Issues*, 72(4), 720–739. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12191
- Zhou, N., Richardson, D., & Warschauer, M. (2018, February 21). Promoting high school teachers' self-efficacy and the understanding of equity issues in C.S. classrooms
 [Paper presentation]. 2018 Research on Equity and Sustained Participation in Engineering, Computing, and Technology, Baltimore, MD, United States. https://doi.org/10.1109/respect.2018.8491713
- Ziol-Guest, K. M., & Lee, K. T. H. (2016). Parent income–based gaps in schooling. *AERA Open*, 2(2), Article 233285841664583. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858416645834
- Zoom. (2021). Zoom video conferencing (Version 5.2.1). https://www.zoom.us
- Zygmunt, E. M., & Cipollone, K. (2019). Community-engaged teacher education and the work of social justice. *Journal of Family & Consumer Sciences*, 111(1), 15–23. https://doi.org/10.14307/jfcs111.1.15

Appendix: Interview Guide

Introductory Statement

[Read to interviewee] The purpose of this study is to explore teachers' perceptions of their abilities to implement equitable instruction practices in high-poverty schools. This study's findings will show the professional supports that teachers may need to create equitable learning environments in high-poverty schools. I will preserve the information you will provide during this interview for 5 years and then destroy it. In addition, I will keep all the information that you provide confidential. This interview will last approximately 30 to 45 minutes, and I will audio-record with your permission.

[Turn on recording software.]

Interview Questions

- What does equity in education mean for students in poverty? What are the ways that teachers attempt to address inequities within instruction?
 Probe: Tell me your experience teaching students in poverty. (if not directly answered)
- 2. What prevents students in poverty from accessing the instruction they need (barriers)?

Probe: Can you tell me some of the barriers that your students face when in your classroom? (if not directly answered)

3. What do you perceive to be the causes of the barriers that you described in Question 2?

Probe: Why do you think this occurs in high-poverty school settings? (if not directly answered)

- 4. How have you responded to the barriers you described in Question 2 with your instructional practices?
- 5. Describe the specific instructional strategies you use to provide equitable instruction.
- 6. Talk to me about the autonomy or flexibility you have in providing equitable instructional practices in your classroom.
- Discuss your preparedness for providing those equitable instructional practices and the reasons for your preparedness or lack thereof.
 Probe: Could you describe some of your experience with counteracting

barriers within your daily lessons? (if not directly answered)

8. Describe any support or barriers that you have encountered while providing equitable instructional practices within your classroom.

Probe: Tell about the barriers that you encounter as you attempt to provide equitable instructional practices within your classroom. (if not directly answered)

9. Describe the knowledge, skills, and professional support that you think you need to enhance your ability to provide equitable instructional practices.

Conclusion Statement

Thank you for taking the time to participate in this interview today. You have clearly described your perceptions of your ability to implement equitable instructional practices within your classroom. Is there anything else you would like to share before we finish this interview? I may need to send three to five follow-up questions after the interview. I will send you the follow-up questions via the email address that you provided me. Thank you again for participating. Please note that you can contact me if you have any questions or concerns.